

From DIVISION OF CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY, DEPARTMENT OF LABORATORY MEDICINE Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

EFFECT OF LOCAL FOOD ON LUMEFANTRINE BIOAVAILABILITY AND POPULATION PHARMACOKINETICS IN UGANDAN CHILDREN WITH MALARIA

Norah Mwebaza



Stockholm 2016

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet.

Printed by **E-Print AB 2016** © Norah Mwebaza, 2016 ISBN 978-91-7676-477-0

Effect of local food on lumefantrine bioavailability and population pharmacokinetics in Ugandan children with malaria

Thesis for Doctoral Degree (Ph.D)

By

Norah Mwebaza

Principal Supervisor: Urban Hellgren MD Ph D Associate professor Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Unit of Infectious Diseases

Co-supervisor(s): Lars L. Gustafsson MD Ph D Karolinska Institutet Department of Laboratory Medicine Division of Clinical Pharmacology

Paul Waako MBChB, MSc, Ph D Professor Makerere University College Of Health Sciences School Of Biomedical Sciences Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics

Celestino Obua MD, MSc, Ph D Professor Mbarara University of Science and Technology Vice Chancellor *Opponent:* Mats O Karlsson MSc Farm D Professor Uppsala Universitet Department of Pharmaceutical Biosciences Faculty of Pharmacy

Examination Board: Eva Vikström-Jonsson MD Ph D Associate professor Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Clinical Epidemiology Unit

Andreas Mårtensson MD Ph D Professor Uppsala Universitet Department of Woman and Child Health, International Maternal and Child Health

Olof Breuer MD Ph D Karolinska Institutet Department of Laboratory Medicine Division of Clinical Pharmacology

Nazarius Mbona Tumwesigye, Bstat, MSc, Ph D Associate Professor Makerere University College Of Health Sciences School of Public Health Department of Epidemiology & Biostatistics

Lars Lindquist MD Ph D Professor Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Unit of Infectious Diseases

From Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Laboratory Medicine

In Collaboration with

Unit of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine Karolinska University Hospital, Huddinge Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

And

Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics School of Biomedical Sciences Makerere University College of Health Sciences, Kampala, Uganda





Makerere University

DEDICATION

I am thankful to GOD (as is the translation of my "mother given name" "MWEBAZA") for the gift of life and mankind.

This thesis will never have been accomplished without input from many people acknowledged.

I was at the verge of giving up but I never gave up because you held onto my ailing hands and pushed me on as I crawled.

Besides I always had earthly reminders:

"Never give up" GAYAZA HIGH SCHOOL Motto

"If you can't fly then run, if you can't run then walk, if you can't walk then crawl, but whatever you do you have to keep moving forward." Martin Luther King Jr.

ABSTRACT

Background. Artemether-lumefantrine (AL) is widely adopted as first-line treatment for uncomplicated malaria. Lumefantrine (LUM), the long acting partner drug is critical for cure by eliminating malaria parasites left after artemether exposure. Absorption of LUM is dependent on dietary fat and the basis for the pediatric dose recommendations is unclear.

Aim. To explore effect of local foods on oral bioavailability of LUM and describe its population pharmacokinetics (PPK) among under five year old children in Uganda treated for malaria with the aim of optimizing use and provide basis for AL rational dosage guidelines.

Methods. In an intensive pharmacokinetics (PK) study, 13 healthy adult volunteers were randomized to participate in an open-label four period crossover design and received a single oral dose of AL (80mg A/ 480mg of LUM) with water, milk, maize porridge or maize porridge with oil on separate occasions. Peak concentrations (C_{max}) and area under concentration-time curve (AUC) truncated at 48 hours after a single dose (AUC_{0-48h}) were compared using average bioequivalence techniques (I). Relevance of the findings was assessed among children < 5 years with uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria who were randomized in a parallel study design to receive standard weight-based AL treatment (*Coartem*[®]), 6 doses over 3 days, with either milk or maize porridge with oil (n= 33) (III). Parametric two-sample t-test was used to compare relative oral LUM bioavailability, 0 to 8 h after the first dose (AUC_{0-8h}) (III). This bioavailability study (III) was nested in a population pharmacokinetic (PPK) study (IV) in the same pediatric patient group. After treatment, sparse plasma samples were collected during 28 days' follow up in all children (n=55). NONMEM was used to describe the PPK profile of LUM and its metabolite, desbutyl-lumefantrine (DBL) (IV).

A liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method was developed for determination of low concentrations of LUM and DBL in small amounts of plasma (II).

Results.

The LC-MS/MS method was simple, fast and sensitive requiring only 100 μ l of plasma with limits of quantification of 21 and 1.7 ng/ml for LUM and DBL respectively (II).

Lumefantrine exposure was comparable in milk and maize porridge plus oil study groups (I & III). In adult healthy volunteers, the bioequivalence criteria was met [maize porridge plus oil group ranges for means ratios (90% CI) of 0.84 –1.88 and 0.85 – 1.69 for C_{max} and AUC_{0-48h} respectively, relative to milk (90%CI, 0.80 – 1.25)]. Among pediatric patients, LUM (AUC_{0-8h}) for those dosed with milk (n=16) was comparable to maize porridge plus oil (n=17) arm (GM {95%CI}: 6.01 {3.26-11.1} vs 6.26 {4.5 -8.43} h*µg/ml, *p*=0.9).

A two-compartment PK model with lag time using first order processes characterized the PPK of LUM (IV). Inter-subject variability in apparent oral clearance (CL/F) was explained by body mass index (BMI) and age, while that in apparent volume of distribution of the central compartment (V_C/F) was explained by weight. Lumefantrine population mean CL/F, inter-compartment clearance (Q/F), V_C/F and apparent volume of distribution of peripheral compartment (V_P/F) were 3.19 L/hr, 0.176 L/hr, 28.1 L, and

58.4 L, respectively. Our results indicate that LUM CL/F decreased with age from two to just less than five years (\approx 20.6%. p=0.04) and LUM CL/F increased with decreasing BMI.

Conclusions. The LC MS/MS method is suitable for pediatric studies with repeated sampling and long time follow up. Oil fortified maize porridge can be an alternative to milk in augmenting absorption of LUM. Our findings provide a structural basis for consideration of age and BMI in evaluation of rational AL dosing guidelines among under five year old children.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- I. Mwebaza N, Jerling M, Gustafsson LL, Obua C, Waako P, Mahindi M, Ntale M, Beck O, Hellgren U. Comparable lumefantrine Oral bioavailability when co-administered with oil fortified maize porridge or milk in healthy volunteers. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology* 2013; 113: 66-72.
- II. Silva AV, Mwebaza N, Ntale M, Gustafsson LL, Pohanka A . A fast and sensitive method for quantifying lumefantrine and desbutyl-lumefantrine using LC- MS/MS. *Journal of Chromatography B* 2015; 1004: 60–6.
- III. Mwebaza N, Jerling M, Gustafsson LL, V Silva A, Pohanka A, Obua C, Waako P, Beck O, Vafa Homann M, Färnert A, Hellgren U, Oil-fortified maize porridge increases absorption of lumefantrine in children with uncomplicated falciparum malaria. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology*, in press 2016.
- IV. Mwebaza N, Hellgren U, Ojara FW, Gustafsson LL, V Silva A, Pohanka A,Obua C, Waako P, Ette EI. Estimation of the population pharmacokinetics of lumefantrine and its metabolite desbutyl-lumefantrine in children under 5 years of age with malaria.
 (Submitted to *Journal Of Clinical Pharmacology*)

Papers will be referred to by their roman numbers (I-IV)

CONTENTS

1.0 INTRODUCTION	. 1
1.1 Malaria burden	1
1.2 History and treatment of uncomplicated malaria	. 2
1.3 Clinical trials of artemether- lumefantrine in African children	. 2
1.4 Relationship between lumefantrine exposure and malaria treatment outcome	. 3
1.5 History and pharmacology of artemether-lumefantrine	. 3
1.5.1 History, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of artemether	. 3
1.5.2 History and pharmacodynamics of lumefantrine	. 4
1.6 Pharmacokinetics of lumefantrine	.4
1.6.1 Factors influencing lumefantrine exposure	. 5
1.6.1.1 Effects of food on lumefantrine absorption	. 5
1.6.1.1.1 Factors affecting bioavailabilty of orally administered drugs	. 6
1.6.1.1.2 Assessment of bioavailability	. 6
1.6.1.2 Drug-drug interactions influencing lumefantrine exposure	.7
1.6.2 Role of ontogeny on pharmacokinetics of drugs	.7
1.6.3 Challenges for pharmacokinetic studies among children	.7
1.7 Population pharmacokinetics	. 8
1.7.1 Population pharmacokinetics methods	. 8
1.7.2 Population pharmacokinetics of lumefantrine	. 8
1.8 Challenges in quantification of lumefantrine in blood	10
1.9 Rationale for this study	11
2.0 STUDY OBJECTIVES	12
2.1 General objective	12
2.2 Specific objectives	12
3.0 METHODS	13
3.1 Study setting	13
3.2 Study participants	13
3.2.1 Healthy adult volunteers (I)	13
3.2.2 Pediatric patients (II, IV)	13
3.3 General methodology	13
3.4 Procedures for adult volunteers bioavailability study (I)	14
3.4.1 Selection of adult volunteers	14
3.4.2 Study design for adult volunteer bioavailability study	14
3.4.3 Data collection for the adult volunteer study	15
3.4.4 Data management and analysis for the adult volunteer bioavailability study1	15
3.5 Procedures for pharmacokinetic studies in pediatric patients (III, IV)	16
3.5.1 Selection of pediatric patients	16
3.5.2 Population pharmacokinetic (PPK) study in children under five years (IV)	16
3.5.2.1 Population pharmacokinetics study design	16

2522 Data collection for DDV study in children under five years	16
5.5.2.2 Data collection for PPK study in children under five years	
3.5.2.3 Population pharmacokinetic analysis	17
3.5.2.4 Assessment of malaria treatment outcome	17
3.5.3 Comparative bioavailability study in pediatric Patients (III)	
3.5.3.1 Comparative bioavailability study design	
3.5.3.2 Data collection for comparative bioavailability study	
3.5.3.3 Data analysis for comparative bioavailability study	
3.6 Development of analytical method for lumefantrine and metabolite (II)	
3.7 Other laboratory methods	
3.7.1 High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) Methods	
3.7.2 Malaria microscopy	
3.7.3 Malaria genotyping	
3.8 Ethical considerations	
4.0 RESULTS	
4.1 Effect of food on oral bioavailability of lumefantrine	
4.1.1 Effect of food on oral bioavailability of lumefantrine in adult volunte	ers (I) 22
4.1.1.1 Adult volunteers	
4.1.1.2 Relative oral bioavailability of lumefantrine with food in adult volum	<i>teers</i> 22
4.1.2 Comparative bioavailability study in pediatric paptients (III)	
4.1.2.1 Patients: Pediatric study paprticipants	
4.1.2.2 Comparative oral bioavailability of lumefantrine in pediatric patient	ts26
4.1.3 Comparison of adult volunteers and pediatric patients findings	28
4.2 Pharmacokinetics of lumefantrine and desbutyl-lumefantrine in pediatric n	natients 29
4.2 1 harmacokinetics of fully and DBL in < 5 year old children	$\frac{1}{2}$
4.2.2 Secondary pharmacokinetic outcomes	22 (V) 2 /
4.2.2 Treatment outcomes and relationship with pharmacokinetic outcomes	24
4.2.5 Treatment outcomes and relationship with pharmacokinetic outcomes	······ 34
4.5 Analytical quantitative method for fumerantime and desouryr-fumerantim	e (II) 55
0.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
7.0 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	
8.0 REFERENCES	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

А	Artemether						
ABC	ATP (Adenosine Triphosphate) -binding cassette superfamily of transporters						
ABE	Average bioequivalence						
ACPR	Adequate Clinical and Parasitological Response						
ACT	Arteminisin-based combination therapy						
ADVAN4	Routine specified by a program for a two Compartment Linear Model with						
	First Order Absorption						
ADVAN6	Routine specified by a program for General Nonlinear Model						
AL	Artemether- lumefantrine						
ALAG1	Population mean absorption lag time						
AQ	Amodiaquine						
ART	Antiretroviral therapy						
AS	Artesunate						
AUC	Area Under the plasma concentration-time Curve for a specified time period						
	(as a subscript e.g. from 0 time to infinity AUC_{0-inf})						
BE	Bioequivalence						
BMI	Body mass index						
BS	Blood Smear						
CL/F	Apparent oral clearance of drug from plasma						
CL _M	Rate of elimination of the metabolite						
C _(LUM) D7	Lumefantrine concentration on day 7						
C _{max}	Peak or maximum concentration attained after specified dose						
CQ	Chloroquine						
CRCL	Creatinine Clearance						
CYP	Cytochrome P450 enzymes						
DBL	Desbutyl-lumefantrine						
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide						
DP	Dihydroartemisinin plus piperaquine						
EFV	Efavirenz						
EIR	Entomological Infection Rates						
ESI+	Positive electro spray ionization						
ETF	Early Treatment Failure						
FOCE	First order conditional estimation method						
GIT	Gastrointestinal						
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography						
IIV	Inter-individual variability						
IV	Intravenous						
KA	Absorption rate constant						
K45	Transfer rate constant from central to peripheral metabolite compartments						
K54	Transfer rate constant from peripheral to central metabolite compartments						
LOQ	Limit of Quantification						
LLOQ	Lower Limit of Quantification						
LUM	Lumefantrine						
LCMS/MS	Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry						

LCF	Late Clinical Failure					
LFT	Liver function tests					
LL	log likelihood					
LPF	Late Parasitological Failure					
LPV	Lopinavir					
MoH	Ministry of Health					
MSP	Merozoite surface proteins gene					
mw	Molecular Weight					
NONMEM	Nonlinear Mixed Effect Model					
NP	Non-parametric methods					
NVP	Niverapine					
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction for P. falciparum genotyping					
PD	Pharmacodynamics					
pfmdr-1	Plasmodium falciparum multidrug resistance gene					
PK	Pharmacokinetics					
PPK	Population Pharmacokinetics					
Q/F	Inter-compartment clearance					
REF	Reference					
RSE	Relative standard error					
SP	Sulphadoxine – Pyrimethamine					
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa					
T _{lag}	Time of onset of absorption					
T _{max}	Time to peak concentration					
TRANS1	Default translation of set of microconstants in NONMEM					
TOL	A command in NONMEM that tells "the number of accurate digits that are required in the computation of drug amounts, i.e., the relative tolerance"					
TV	Typical value					
UV	Ultraviolet Detection					
V _C /F	Apparent central volume of distribution					
V_P/F	Apparent volume of distribution of the peripheral compartment					
WHO	World Health Organization					
WT	Weight					
WWARN	Worldwide Antimalarial Resistance Network					

OPERATIONAL DEFINITIONS

Bioavailability: the amount or fraction (measured by both rate and extent) of the administered dose of unchanged form of therapeutically active agent that reaches the systemic circulation and is available at the site of action [127, 190].

Absolute bioavailability: the amount of a therapeutically active agent that reaches the systemic circulation relative to that given by the intravenous route. Ideally the intravenous dose is assumed to be 100% available [190].

Oral bioavailability: rate and extent of absorption of an orally administered therapeutically active agent that reaches the systemic circulation and is available at the site of action. [190].

Relative bioavailability: estimate of the fraction of a dose administered through another route that is absorbed into the systemic circulation when compared to the fraction available when given as an intravenous dose form, or comparisons between fractions absorbed when a drug is administered in 2 different forms (different route of administration or formulation- solution, suspension or same form but different product /brands) or when given with different supplements [190].

Bioequivalence: the absence of a significant difference in bioavailability of therapeutic equivalents or alternatives at the site of drug action or in systemic circulation when administered at the same molar dose under similar conditions [190].

Pharmacokinetics: the way the body handles the therapeutic agent after it has been administered; once the therapeutic agent has been released it undergoes subsequent processes including absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion [192].

Population pharmacokinetics: the study of variability in plasma drug concentrations in patient population when standard dose regimens are administered [127].

Apparent oral clearance (CL/F): the volume of plasma cleared of the therapeutic agent (which has been administered orally) per unit of time [133].

Apparent volume of distribution (V_C/F): "the theoretical volume that would be necessary to contain the total amount of an administered drug at the same concentration" as that being observed in the blood plasma [133].

1 INTRODUCTION

Malaria remains one of the leading causes of death among children below the age of 5 years living in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) [1]. Uncomplicated *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria accounts for above 95% of clinical attacks and if not well treated, rapidly progresses to severe disease among children < 5 years of age [2]. Effective case management is still the cornerstone in malaria control. Artemisinin based combination therapies [ACTs] are recommended to optimize treatment response and reduce the risk of development of drug-resistant parasites [3]. Artemether-lumefantrine [AL] was selected as first-line ACT for uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria in Uganda in 2004 and is a widely adopted policy in SSA countries [3-5].

Lumefantrine (LUM) is the long acting antimalarial partner agent responsible for ensuring cure [3]. In SSA including Uganda, global financial initiatives [6, 7] through World Health Organization (WHO) and governments' commitment have scaled up availability of ACT at public health facilities for treatment of childhood diseases at community level [8-12]. However oral bioavailability of LUM is highly dependent on intake of dietary fat and the basis for the AL dosage regimen among children is still unclear.

This thesis sought to optimize use of AL during treatment of uncomplicated malaria, to benefit the most vulnerable users and provide a pharmacokinetic basis for evaluation of rational AL dosage guidelines for children under five years of age.

1.1 MALARIA BURDEN

Malaria is one of the commonest mosquito-borne diseases in humans [1]. The infection is caused by six *Plasmodium* species namely *P. falciparum*, *P. malariae*, *P. vivax*, *two* species of *P. ovale* (classic type *P.ovale curtisi and* variant type *Plasmodium ovale* wallikeri) [13, 14] and *P knowlesi* [15]. *P. falciparum* species is the commonest infection, responsible for the highest disease burden and fatality [1, 2].

Globally, 3.3 billion people are estimated to be at risk of malaria, with disproportionately high risk among those with poorly developed immunity and living in tropical climate especially in resource limited settings in SSA [1]. In 2015, WHO estimated "214 million cases of malaria globally, 88% of which occurred in Africa" and "438, 000 deaths, 90% of which occurred in Africa" and children < 5 years accounted for about 70 % of all deaths [1]. In 2015, Uganda was ranked 4th highest malaria burdened country in Africa and 10th global contributor to malaria related mortality [1]. Though mortality among children aged < 5 years reduced by 34% from 137 to 90 /1,000 live births between 2004 and 2011 [16]. Malaria remains one of the leading causes of illness and death for this age group in Uganda [17]. Available data in 2013 by the Uganda ministry of health (MoH) estimated 16 million malaria cases to have contributed to 30%-50% of all outpatient visits, 15%-20% of hospital admissions and 12.8% hospital deaths [17, 18]. Surveys conducted among Ugandan children < 5 years of age, registered reduction in malaria prevalence by microscopy from 42 (range: 5 – 63) % in 2009 [19] to 19 (range: 6-22) % in 2014 [20]. Of note, malaria was reported to be "four times more prevalent in rural than in urban areas" and "seven times as common among children in the lowest compared to those in highest wealth quintile" [20].

Thus the need to optimize AL use in resource limited settings where malaria is most prevalent.

1.2 HISTORY AND TREATMENT OF UNCOMPLICATED MALARIA

For long, treatment of uncomplicated falciparum malaria was effective with monotherapy using 4-aminoquinolines such as chloroquine (CQ), amodiaquine (AQ) or co-formulated antifolate drugs such as sulphadoxine -pyrimethamine (SP). Parasite resistance to CQ was reported in 1950s in South America [21], later in 1960s in East Asia [22] and reported to have increased between 1973 and 1981 in Southeast (SE) Asia and South America [23-25]. Worldwide, malaria transmission heightened between 1982 and 1995 [26]. Resistance to CQ was first reported in East Africa (Kenya & Tanzania) in 1978 [27, 28] but documented much later in Uganda in 1988 [29, 30]. Uganda MoH provisionally adopted CQ+SP in 2000 but confirmed the combination as first line treatment of uncomplicated falciparum malaria, later in 2002 [30]. In Uganda, CQ monotherapy for P. falciparum continued beyond 2002 and remained efficacious in a few low transmission areas [31]. However increased treatment failure rates were reported especially in children < 5 years [32, 33]. Though resistance to SP had been reported as early as 1985 [34, 35], SP was effective when used in combination with 4-aminoquinolines [36-38]. Nevertheless use of CQ + SP was short-lived with increasing treatment failure [37-45]. In 2004, Uganda adopted AL as first line treatment of uncomplicated malaria but was not used widely until 2005 [4].

The WHO recommends ACT regimens. Short acting artemisinins are combined with long acting partner drugs to optimize cure rates, reduce the risk of development of resistant *P.falciparum* and reduce malaria transmission [46-48]. Current treatment options for uncomplicated falciparum malaria (except pregnant women in first trimester) include AL, AQ and artesunate (AS), AS + mefloquine, AS + SP, and dihydroartemisinin plus piperaquine [3, 49]. For pregnant women in first trimester, quinine plus clindamycin is recommended [3].

1.3. CLINICAL TRIALS OF ARTEMETHER-LUMEFANTRINE IN AFRICAN CHILDREN

The current standard AL regimen with 6 doses at 0, 8, 24, 36, 48, 60 hours has been efficacious with day 28 cure rates among African children in clinical trials ranging between 95 and 100% [50-59]. However, a recent meta-analysis indicated low cure rates among Asian children between 10 and 15 kg; and malnourished African children between 1- 3 years [60]. Efficacy may be lower in real life situations. Indeed effectiveness studies in African children have reported varying trends, ranging from those observed in clinical trials to higher failure rates (4%-39%) [61-64]. In Africa, trials comparing AL with another commonly used ACT, dihydroartemisinin plus piperaquine (DP) showed lower Day 28 PCR adjusted parasitological failure rates with DP {range 2-5.8 % vs 0- 2.0% for AL vs DP respectively} [65-70]. This may be explained by better absorption and longer half-life of the long acting partner drug piperaquine compared to LUM.

1.4 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN LUMEFANTRINE EXPOSURE AND MALARIA TREATMENT OUTCOME

The risk of therapeutic failure during AL treatment is attributed to low PK exposure of the long acting partner LUM [71-73]. Predictors of therapeutic response have been identified as the overall area under LUM plasma concentration- time curve (AUC) and increased time during which LUM concentrations were above minimum inhibitory concentration of 280 ng/ml [72]. Venous plasma LUM concentration on day 7 (C_(LUM)D7) has been found to be a surrogate marker of the overall AUC [72, 74, 75]. Various C_(LUM)D7 ranging from 50, 175, 400, 500, 600 ng/ml, have been correlated with therapeutic response in different clinical studies [72, 76-79]. The two most commonly referenced C_(LUM)D7 as prediction threshold for recrudescence have been 280ng/ml, first described among Thailand patients in an area of highly drug resistant P. falciparum [72] and 175 ng/ml among Thailand patients in low malaria transmission area [76]. In another study in Uganda, $C_{(LUM)}D7 < 280$ ng/ml did not predict treatment failure, but re-infections were registered in patients with $C_{(LUM)}D7 < 400$ ng/ml [79, 80]. In this Ugandan population, predictors of low C(LUM)D7 and increased risk of malaria re-infection were reported to be age below 5 years and a low total LUM dose between 50 and 79 mg/kg [79]. In a real life study in Tanzanian children, significant correlation between low LUM exposures and increased risk of treatment failure was demonstrated [63]. The WHO recommends "target total dose ranges" of "5- 24 mg/kg of artemether" and "29-144 mg/kg of LUM" to provide adequate drug exposure [3].

1.5 HISTORY AND PHARMACOLOGY OF ARTEMETHER-LUMEFANTRINE

Artemether (A) is co-formulated with LUM in fixed ratios of 1:6 {20mg of A and 120 mg of LUM} administered as weight-based fixed-dose: 5 to < 15 kg receives 1 tablet {20 mg A /120 mg LUM}, 15 to < 25 kg receives 2 tablet {40mg A/240 mgLUM}, 25 to < 35kg {60 mg A / 360 mg LUM}, and \geq 35 kg {80 mgA/480mg LUM}[81].

Development of AL combination was started in 1981 by Zhou Yiqing and colleagues at Academy of Military Medical Sciences, Beijing, China (<u>www.epo.org/learning-events/european-inventor /finalists /2009/ zhou.html</u>). Artemether lumefantrine was the first co-formulated ACT and was approved for use in China in 1992 [82]; in 1999 in Africa and the European Union and as late as 2009 by the US Food and Drug Administration [83]. The dispersible formulation for use in children was availed in 2009 [83]. Artemether-lumefantrine is effective against all malaria species although it is particularly indicated for treatment of uncomplicated *P. falciparum* and *P. vivax* [3].

1.5.1 History, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of artemether

Artemether (A), { $C_{16}H_{26}O_5$, molecular weight [mw] 298.38 Da} is a lipid-soluble semisynthetic artemisinin derivative from *Artemesia annua*, a traditional Chinese medicinal plant. The active component of artemisinins {qinghaosu} was first extracted and chemically isolated in 1971 by Youyou Tu [84-86] and evaluated for clinical use in 1981[87,88]. Youyou Tu received the 2015 Nobel Prize in Physiology / Medicine. Artemether is currently given orally or intramuscularly. Oral absorption of A is enhanced by fatty food and is rapid with lag time between 0.13 and 2 h and peaks within 1-2 h [74, 89-91]. Artemether { $t_{1/2}$ =1-3 h} is metabolized predominantly by CYP 3A4 and to minor extent by CYP2B6, 2C9, and 2C19 [81, 92]. Artemether is more rapidly eliminated than its active metabolite dihydroartemisinin { $t_{1/2} = 1 - 5$ h} [74, 93, 94] and undergoes auto induction (enzymatic metabolism) with subsequent doses [95]. Artemisinins are sesquiterpene lactone endoperoxides that exert rapid parasite clearance. Direct reduction of their endoperoxide ring by iron in heme generates reactive oxygen radicals which rapidly kill most stages of blood ring forms, trophozoites and schizonts of all *Plasmodium* species [96, 97]. Artemisinins also affect activities of parasite mitochondria, inhibit nucleic acid and protein synthesis [98, 99]. Other pharmacodynamic (PD) effects of *A* include inhibition of adhesions process (cytoadhesion and resetting) associated with severe form of *P*. *falciparum* malaria [100]. Resistance to arteminisins (K13 gene mutation) has been reported in SE Asia [101-102]. Similar mutations were found in East and West Africa but these isolates were not validated to confirm association with clinical resistance [103-105].

1.5.2 History and pharmacodynamics of lumefantrine

Lumefantrine is the long acting schizonticidal agent in the AL combination, responsible for eliminating the residual parasites surviving short acting A exposure [73]. Lumefantrine (benflumetol { $C_{30}H_{32}Cl_{3}NO$, mw 528.95 g/mol}, 2-dibutylamino-dichlorobenzylidene-Hfluorenyl-ethanol) is a synthetic aryl amino alcohol. It was synthesized by 1976 under Academy of Military Medical Sciences in Beijing, China and certified for manufacture in 1989 by Kunming Pharmaceutical Company [82, 106]. Lumefantrine has schizontocidal effect on erythrocytic stages of all *Plasmodia* species and also gametocidal activity [3, 107]. The mechanism of action of LUM is not clearly defined but it is thought to be similar to that of quinolines and related aryl alcohols [108]. The drug accumulates in the parasite food vacuole and interferes with heme polymerization by forming complexes. Thus inhibit formation of non-toxic hemozoin. Accumulated toxic heme leads to parasite death and also inhibits parasite nucleic acid and protein synthesis [108]. Although molecular markers associated with LUM resistance (P. falciparum multidrug resistance genes, *pfmdr-1* 86N, 184F, and 1246D alleles) have been found in African clinical samples where AL has been widely used, this has not yet been associated with clinical failure [109-111].

1.6 PHARMACOKINETICS OF LUMEFANTRINE

Lumefantrine is currently only available as an oral co-formulation with A for human use. However PK comparison of parenteral and oral LUM in rats indicated poor erratic oral absorption with absolute oral bioavailability ranging between ≈ 5 and 12%; and a low extraction with clearance of 0.03 liters/h/kg (< 2% of the hepatic plasma flow) [112].

Lumefantrine is highly lipid soluble with slow and erratic fat dependent absorption [91] with lag time of 2-4 h and peaks between 4 and 10 hr after an oral dose [72, 91, 113]. Lumefantrine binds variably to plasma lipoproteins (77%, 7.3%, 6.6% for high, low and very low density lipoproteins respectively) and minimally (10%) to erythrocytes [114]. Estimates of apparent oral clearance (CL/F) (range 0.077-0.104 L/h/kg) and apparent volume of distribution (V/F) (range: 0.4-8.9 L/kg) of LUM have been summarized by WHO [3]. The half life (t_{1/2}) of LUM is variable, ranging from 3 to 10 days among healthy

adult volunteers [113, 115, 116] and malaria patients including children and pregnant women [72, 117, 118]. Some studies reported significantly shorter LUM $t_{1/2}$ (range 1- 4 days) in pediatric patients [119, 120] and among pregnant women compared to non-pregnant adults [121,122]. Lumefantrine undergoes predominantly hepatic excretion, and both parent and metabolites have been found in bile and faeces during animal studies [115]. There is no published data on the extent of renal excretion of LUM.

Lumefantrine is metabolized mainly to desbutyl-lumefantrine {DBL} predominantly by the liver microsome enzyme CYP3A4 [81, 113]. The metabolite has anti-malarial activity [123-124] but systemic exposure of DBL is low ranging between 0.8% and 14 % of that of the parent drug [76, 81, 117, 125, 126]. The half life ($t_{1/2}$) of DBL was reported to be slightly longer than that of the parent drug in one study among children {median 5.3 vs 5.9 days} [117].

1.6.1 Factors influencing lumefantrine exposure

Drug exposure is a result of various PK processes including absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion [127]. Differences in LUM PK exposure are mostly attributed to absorption (section 1.6.1.1) and metabolism (section 1.6.1.2). Variation in LUM exposure can also be caused by physiological changes including pregnancy [118, 121,122] and pharmacogenetic variations in CYP3A4 enzymes [128].Variation in CYP3A4 activity as a result of physiological maturation changes has been reported to affect exposure of some substrates (section 1.6.2).

1.6.1.1 Effects of food on lumefantrine absorption

Oral bioavailability of LUM is highly variable but dependent on food intake [91, 129, 130]. This was evident in malaria patients as they resumed normal diet [72, 74]. Among healthy volunteers, high fat meals augmented oral bioavailability of LUM as much as 16-fold compared to only two fold increase for A [91, 129]. At least 1.2g of fat is needed to sufficiently improve LUM absorption [130].

The clinical importance of dietary fat was demonstrated in an earlier study, day 28 PCR adjusted cure rates varied significantly between patients who received AL with food and those dosed without food (86.5% vs. 71.1%, p=0.02) [78]. No significant difference in clinical outcomes was observed in studies examining unsupervised and supervised AL therapy in three different countries [64, 77, 79]. However, in two of these studies, significantly lower $C_{(LUM)}D7$ were observed with unsupervised AL treatment compared to the supervised groups [64, 77].

Concern still remains whether optimal LUM levels are attainable in real life situations when unsupervised outpatient AL treatment is inevitable and in areas where milk may not be easily available. A study conducted in 5 African countries reports that only 57.5% of the AL doses were administered with milk [131]. In Tanzania, only 43% of hospitalized pediatric patients receiving AL for treatment of uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria were able to complete their milk portions [120]. Thus, smaller meals but with sufficient fat content may be necessary.

1.6.1.1.1 Factors affecting bioavailability of orally administered drugs

Oral bioavailability of a drug depends on both pharmaceutical (properties, bioequivalence, drug interactions) [132] and patient factors (physiological processes and co-morbidity) [133]. Drug-related factors involved are physicochemical properties of the drug (solubility, size, lipid solubility, stability) and the formulation (design and form) [132, 134]. Patient related factors include gastrointestinal {GIT} physiological processes and food effect on absorption [132, 135, 137, 138]. These include alterations in P^H of GIT contents and hepatic blood flow [132]; drug efflux by ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters p-glycoprotein and metabolism at the intestinal mucosa [139, 140]. Gastric emptying varies with dietary content, mechanical effects such as volume and state of food, either solid or liquid and food viscosity [133, 135, 136].

Mechanisms responsible for poor LUM oral bioavailability are attributed to its physicochemical properties and GIT barriers to absorption [139]. The solubility of LUM and availability for absorption is enhanced by dietary fat [91, 129, 130]. Fat delays gastric emptying which prolongs bile secretion necessary for emulsification of fat thus augments absorption of lipid soluble drugs like LUM [133, 135]. Absorption of LUM is further moderated by enterocyte CYP3A4 metabolism and efflux activity by ABC transporters at intestinal epithelial cell level [139].

1.6.1.1.2 Assessment of bioavailability

Oral bioavailability is a measure of drug exposure, estimated by the rate and extent to which an orally absorbed drug reaches the systemic circulation or site of action [127]. Assessment of bioavailability employs direct PK outcomes (estimates of drug levels in circulatory or excretory compartments) and rarely indirect PD outcomes (immediate pharmacological or therapeutic responses) [141]. Pharmacokinetic measures include the rate of exposure {time of onset of absorption (T_{lag}) and to peak (T_{max})} and extent of exposure {peak concentration (C_{max}), in respect to concentrations attained over time (AUC)} of exposure [141].

Bioequivalence (BE) assumes the absence of significant difference in the bioavailability and therefore similar therapeutic and safety effects of innovator drug and therapeutic equivalents (generic drug products) or alternatives (different formulations) [141]. Average bioequivalence {ABE} technique compares PK outcome measures of reference and test drug/pharmaceutical products. The two are bioequivalent if the confidence interval {90%CI} for the ratio of means of the drug exposure is within bioequivalence limits (0.80-1.25) [141]. However it may be argued that bioequivalence may not deem that the products can be used interchangeably, some drugs are highly variable [142] and drug products may display significant differences in variance in PK estimates due to inter-individual and intraindividual variability [143-146]. So, other BE criteria may be considered [143-146].

1.6.1.2 Drug-drug interactions influencing lumefantrine exposure

Drug- drug interactions influencing LUM metabolism has been reported. Cytochrome P4503A4 inhibitors such as ketoconazole [120] and protease inhibitors {lopinavir, lopinavir/ ritonavir, darunavir/ritonavir} [127, 147-151] have been reported to increase LUM exposure when given concurrently. Lumefantrine exposure was reduced when AL was co-administered with CYP3A4 inducer such as efavirenz [147, 149, 152-154], etravirine [151] and rifampicin [155]. Lumefantrine has been reported to inhibit CYP2D6 [81].

1.6.2 Role of ontogeny on pharmacokinetics of drugs

Ontogeny, the course of growth (size change) and development of an individual organism impacts on PK process [156]. Development entails physiological maturation which involves phenotypic (structural changes in size, shape and appearance) and functional changes in body systems including drug metabolizing enzyme systems [157 - 161]. Differences in PK between children \geq 2 years of age and infants <2 years of age have been reported [156]. The maturation trends in CYP3A4 have been reported to reach peak at or after 6 months and appeared to decline after infancy or 2 years [162-164]. This trend has been observed for some CYP3A4 substrates including midazolam [165], tacrolimus [166] and lopinavir [167]. Lumefantrine is also a substrate for CYP3A4 [84, 120]. There is evidence pointing to lower LUM exposure concentrations (C_(LUM)D7) among children compared to adults treated according to the current dosage regimen [79, 80, 117, 119, 131, 168, 169]. Therefore allometric scaling adjusted to physiological functional changes in relation to ontogeny of CYP3A4 with age can be incorporated into elimination PK models to help optimize parameter estimations [170].

1.6.3 Challenges for pharmacokinetic studies among children

Traditional PK methods employ intensive sampling designs. As such, studies often involve adult healthy volunteers and patients. These may not usually be valid for pediatric population with their developmental changes which are likely to alter physiological and PK processes [171]. Ethical considerations for not including children intensive PK studies involve avoiding inflicting pain, lack of certainty of consent and safety considerations of volume of blood to be drawn. This constrains research among young children and explains the lack of studies necessary for rational recommendation of pediatric dosage regimens.

1.7 POPULATION PHARMACOKINETICS

1.7.1 Population pharmacokinetics methods

Methodological limitations are associated with use of traditional PK analysis despite availability of dense individual data from few people. Population PK approach uses sparse data from larger populations to characterize population PK mean values, explain sources of variability in PK outcomes and relationships between PK and PD outcomes [172]. Population based PK methods describe both fixed effects (population mean estimates) and the contribution of the random effects [173]. Furthermore PPK models display the extent of variability. An individual estimate differs from the population mean by a value contributed by random effects from inter-subject differences and unknown influences, measurement errors, and unexplained residual differences [173].

Population PK approaches commonly employ parametric methods (non-linear mixed effect modeling, NONMEM), first described by Sheiner and Beal in 1972 [174]. Non-linear mixed effect modeling assumes a population with approximate normal distribution of parameter estimates. However, non-parametric (NP) methods for population modeling are available {e.g. NP maximum likelihood, NP adaptive grid, NP Bayesian algorithm}, which make no assumptions about the parameter distribution. This makes NP methods suitable approach for characterizing population parameters for populations with uncertain or bimodal or multimodal distributions [175].

1.7.2 Population pharmacokinetics of lumefantrine

There is increasing data on PPK of LUM and its metabolite, DBL profiles. Studies have been done among children [117, 120, 177], children and adults [178], pregnant and nonpregnant women [118, 179], and HIV populations on antiretroviral co-treatment (ART) [154, 180]. Population estimates for central compartment parameters (apparent oral clearance {CL/F} and volume of distribution {V_C/F}) of LUM and DBL varied across similar and different populations (Table 1). Different structural PK models were used to characterize LUM and DBL population parameters (Table 1). Furthermore, different approaches or assumptions were used to model DBL disposition. In some studies, the V_C/F of DBL was fixed to that of parent drug, LUM [178, 179]; whereas others assumed 100% conversion of parent drug to metabolite [117, 180].

The variability in CL/F was partially explained by dose, age and weight during an earlier dose finding trial among adult patients > 15 years [72]. In addition, the influence of the initial level of parasitemia on LUM bioavailability was also reported [72]. Another population PK study that enrolled children and adults with age ranging from 1 to 78 years (median: 9 years) identified body weight, age and height as significant covariates influencing CL/F [178]. They retained weight only in their model because weight correlated well with age and height. Their findings justified the current weight based LUM dosing approach [178]. Studies that involved pediatric malaria patients do not provide information particularly on the vulnerable, < 5 year old population [117, 120, 178]. These

studies in children did not identify any influential patient covariates. Lately, the PPK of LUM has been described in Ugandan children aged ≤ 2 years where age was found to have a positive influence on bioavailability [177].

Study	-	Study Population		Model T _{lag} Ka			CL/F	V/F	Duration
Ref		Location	Age ^{mr}	(cpt)		(h^{-1})	(L/h)	(L)	of sampling
		(Number)	(years)						samping
Children	ı								
<u>177</u>	LUM	Uganda (207) [#]	1.2 (0.5 - 2)	2	-	-	2.19	83.2	21 days
<u>117</u>	LUM	Papua New Guinea (13)	7.7(5-10)	3	-	0.461	7.29 (a)	227 ^(b)	28 days
	DBL			2	-	-	701 ^(a)	51,100)
<u>120</u>	LUM	Tanzania (n=50)	4(1-10)	1	1.92	0.82	0.077 ^(d)	8.9 ^(b)	3 days
Children	n , adult	s and pregnant	twomen						
<u>178</u>	LUM	Tanzania	9 (1-78)	1	-	0.54	7.7	265	7
		(143)							days
	DBL	Pregnant		1	-	-	4.8	-	
		(3/143)							
Pregnan	t and No	on-pregnant w	omen						
<u>179</u>	LUM	Tanzania.	21 (18–41)	1	-	-	2.89	134	7
		Pregnant (22) and							days
	ומת	(55) and Not (22)		1			26		
110		Not (22)	21 (15 28)	1		$-(4.00)^{(c)}$	2.0 5.00	-	21
<u>110</u>	LUM	Dregnant	21 (13-38)	L	-	(4.09)	5.09	123	21 dave
		(115) and							uays
		Not (17)							
HIV Pat	ients on	Antiretrovira	therapy wi	th mal	aria co-1	treatme	ent		
180	LUM	Uganda	36 (20-70)	2	-	$(6.27)^{(1)}$	^{c)} 4.77	68.9	3-5
		(n=89)	· · · ·			· /			days
	DBL	{LPV/r or		1			489	22 800)
		EFV or							
		NVP}							
<u>154</u>	LUM	Tanzania	43 (21-67)	2	1.45	0.032	4.54	25.6	14
		(194)							days
		{EFV or							
		NVP}							

 Table 1. Reported mean population pharmacokinetic estimates of lumefantrine and desbutyl-lumefantrine parameters after six AL doses in children and adults.

#: 107 children with 207 malaria episodes cpt: Number compartment in disposition model. mr: median age (range). (a):unit, L/h/70kg. (b) Unit, L/70kg. (d):L/h/kg

LPV, EFV & NVP: Lopinavir, efavirenz & niverapine based antiretroviral therapy (ART)

All first order absorption except (c), mean transit time in hours for the transit absorption model.

1.8 CHALLENGES IN QUANTIFICATION OF LUMEFANTRINE IN BLOOD

Lumefantrine determination is constrained by its physicochemical properties. Lumefantrine is heat labile therefore is easily degraded at room temperatures [181], and may not be stable for more than 6 months in -20°C [182]. This poses a challenge while sampling, during storage and handling of samples. Lumefantrine plasma levels may be potentially lowered during collection in field studies or during sample preparation in case samples are not immediately frozen and kept so until extraction. Furthermore LUM is highly lipid soluble and bound to plasma lipoproteins [114]. Careful choice of solvents for sample extraction and mobile phase is required. In preparation for a study among pediatric patients, capillary samples would be preferred to venous samples. Good correlation without significant variation between capillary and venous LUM concentrations was reported, but capillary levels tend to be slightly higher thus the need for a correction factor [183]. Venous plasma is therefore preferred for precise quantification of LUM concentrations. Furthermore, minimal but adequate volume of drawn blood is a crucial consideration when undertaking studies among young children.

Recent establishment of anti-malarial activity of the metabolite, DBL underlines the importance for concurrent determination with the parent compound [123-125]. However, DBL is present in very low concentrations with a factor of up to 100x lower than the parent compound [76, 81, 117, 125, 126]. Therefore, HPLC-UV detection may not provide the required sensitivity for quantification of low concentrations of DBL [126].

Due to technical limitations including laboriously lengthy extraction process and low sensitivity, earlier high-performance liquid chromatography methods are not adequate for follow up of low LUM levels in small volume samples [126, 182, 184, 185]. Recently, more sensitive liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry techniques have been published [186-188]. The availability and use of isotope labeled internal standard is preferred in order to overcome matrix effect and ion saturation (interferences leading to signal suppression or enhancement) [188]. Thus, these isotopes are preferred as internal standards rather than structural analogues to LUM like halofantrine [187] in order to improve accuracy and precision of the quantification method [188].

1.9 RATIONALE FOR THIS STUDY

Effective case management remains the cornerstone in malaria control. With exception of poorly developed host immunity to malaria and parasite resistance, low drug exposure is the other contributor to the increase of risk of malaria treatment failure [75].

Artemether –lumefantrine is a widely adopted first-line ACT for uncomplicated malaria, in SSA including Uganda [3-5]. Furthermore, global financial support through WHO and government commitment has sustained prompt access to effective malaria treatment in SSA [6-10, 12]. However it is important to ensure optimal drug exposure during treatment.

The long acting partner drug, LUM is responsible for adequate treatment outcomes by eliminating residual parasites, left after massive but short-lived clearance of parasites by the most potent short acting artemether [72, 113]. The critical role of food in augmenting artemether - lumefantrine uptake is well established [91, 129, 130]. Dietary fat is essential for augmentation of AL absorption particularly LUM which is highly lipid soluble [129]. Milk or high fat food is recommended food supplement for AL [81]. Milk is scarce and food consumption in most sub-Saharan countries is principally carbohydrate rich with little or poor fat content. It is not known whether adequately uptake of AL is achieved when given with available local foods with minimal fat content. However it has been confirmed that as little as 1.2g of fat sufficient improves LUM absorption [130]. This information can be used to identify appropriate alternative food supplements suitable for user populations.

Children under five are especially vulnerable to malaria and are at higher risk of treatment failure than adults by virtue of their undeveloped immunity [1]. The basis for pediatric AL doses is still unclear [60, 169]. The dose is currently fixed-weight adjusted and probably based on adult data [3], yet maturation may impact on drug disposition [156-161]. Indeed meta-analysis findings indicated lower exposure among young and malnourished children compared to older children and adults treated under the current AL dosage regimen [60]. Scientific data on factors influencing variability in drug concentrations among vulnerable populations is necessary to lend credence to rational dosage guidelines [172]. There is sparse data on PPK of LUM among pediatric malaria patients but studies do not provide information particularly on the vulnerable, < 5 year old population [117, 120, 177, 178].

For the intended bioavailability and PPK studies among pediatric patients with uncomplicated malaria, a sensitive analytical method was required. The method needed to be sensitive to allow determination of LUM and DBL concentrations in small plasma volumes obtained from young children during follow up to the study end point, which was 28 days.

2 STUDY OBJECTIVES

2.1 General objective

To explore the effect of local foods on the pharmacokinetics of lumefantrine (LUM) and describe the population pharmacokinetics of LUM among Ugandan children; in order to optimize AL use and provide basis for suggesting rational dosage for artemether-lumefantrine (AL) adjusted to the user population and conditions in the country.

2.2 Specific objectives

- 1. To determine the effects of local food (milk, maize porridge, maize porridge plus vegetable oil) on the bioavailability of LUM among healthy Ugandan adults after a single oral dose of co-formulated AL.
- 2. To develop and evaluate a sensitive LC MS/MS method for determination LUM and its desbutyl-metabolite in small plasma volume.
- 3. To compare the effects of maize porridge plus vegetable oil versus milk on the oral bioavailability of LUM among under five year old Ugandan children receiving AL for uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria.
- 4. To describe the population pharmacokinetics of LUM among under five year old children in Uganda receiving AL for uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria.

3 METHODS

3.1 STUDY SETTING

The study was conducted at the Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics, Makerere University College of Health Sciences, Kampala, Uganda. This is within the Mulago National Referral Hospital Complex Campus. Drug assay was done at Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics (I) and Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Karolinska University Hospital, Huddinge, Stockholm Sweden (II, III, IV).

3.2 STUDY PARTICIPANTS

3.2.1 Healthy Adult Volunteers (I)

Healthy volunteers were respondent adult paramedical and nursing students attending Mulago Paramedical and Nursing Schools, Kampala, Uganda. The student population is largely of black origin, predominantly originating from Ugandan ethnic groups.

3.2.2 Pediatric patients (II, IV)

Pediatric patients were under five year old children suffering from uncomplicated *P. falciparum* malaria. Parents / guardians were approached at hospital outpatient departments of Mulago Hospital and surrounding public health facilities within 20 Km radius, including Kampala, Mukono, Wakiso and Mpigi districts (Central Uganda). Central Uganda is mesoendemic for malaria with low Entomological Infection Rates (EIR) of about 8 [189].

3.3 GENERAL METHODOLOGY

This scientific work comprised of 4 experimental sub-studies. A bio-analytical method (II) was developed to facilitate drug assays for sub-studies III and IV. Food-drug interaction studies included an initial explorative bioavailability study in healthy adult volunteers (I) followed by a comparative bioavailability study (III) nested in the observational PK study among < 5 year old children treated for uncomplicated *P. falciparum* malaria (IV) (Figure 1). Reference will be made to adult healthy volunteers as "adult volunteers" and < 5 year old sick children as "pediatric patients".



Figure 1. A schematic diagram showing the study populations and designs for the pharmacokinetic studies.

3.4 PROCEDURES FOR ADULT VOLUNTEERS BIOAVAILABILITY STUDY (I)

3.4.1 Selection of adult volunteers

The study was conducted between April and August 2009. Eligibility of consented healthy volunteers (n=13) was established based on history, clinical examination, hematological and chemistry laboratory parameters screening on days 21 to 2 prior to the study.

3.4.2 Study design for the adult volunteers bioavailability study

In open-label randomized study, adult volunteers were assigned to participate in a nonreplicate four period cross-over study design to explore effects of selected local foods on oral bioavailability of LUM after a single oral dose of AL.

3.4.3 Data collection for the adult volunteer study

Selection of food groups for the bioavailability study. Practical food alternatives were based on findings from a pilot survey (Mwebaza 2009, unpublished). Exit interviews were conducted with caregivers of malaria suffering children < 5 years, as they exited the health facility. Maize flour was the commonest {100%} local food at Ugandan households {n=94} of caretakers of < 5 year old malaria sufferers, given a 3 days' recall of food provided. In Uganda, maize {25g flour constitute 500ml of porridge cost⁻ \$0.01} is cheaper and more available than milk {500 ml cost - \$0.25}. However maize {0-4% fat: 0-

0.2g of fat / 100 ml of porridge} has much lower fat content than cow's milk {3.4g of fat/100ml} (I). Maize can be cheaply fortified with little vegetable fat. Vegetable cooking oil is more affordable and available than milk, 20 ml of vegetable oil cost ~ \$0.06.

Profiled food groups were as follows: A: Fasted, received water {200ml}, B: Standard milk supplement {6.8g fat /200ml}, C: Maize porridge {0.5g fat / 200ml of porridge} D: Maize porridge fortified with vegetable oil {0.5g fat / 200 ml plus 5g/5ml of vegetable oil}.

Data collection. Adult volunteers received a single oral adult treatment dose of AL treatment (Tablet *Coartem*[®], Novartis Pharma AG, Basel, Switzerland, 4 tablets of 20 mg A/120 mg LUM) with assigned feed on separate occasions with a washout period of about 4 weeks. They were instructed to fast \geq 8hours prior to dosing and refrained from food for 3 hours after dosing, but allowed water at liberty. Intensive samples were collected over the first 72 hours, and thereafter weekly till day 28. Plasma was frozen at -38^oC until analysis by modified HPLC-UV technique [126].

3.4.4 Data management and analysis for the volunteer bioavailability study

Though samples were available till day 28, PK evaluations were restricted to 48 hours. This was due to unfortunate freezer breakdown following 72 hours' interruption in power supply. Half of the profiles had samples collected beyond 48 hours that thawed before analysis. Subsequently LUM stability was doubtful based on unsatisfactory reproducibility and repeatability of results. Consequently results for thawed samples were invalidated and assessment limited to last point, 48 h at which valid results were available for all individual profiles (I).

Statistical and pharmacokinetic evaluations: Lumefantrine PK outcomes were determined using non-compartmental methods following single extra-vascular dose using WinNonlin Pro software [Phoenix version 6.2, Pharsight Corporation Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA]. These included time of onset of absorption (T_{lag}), peak concentrations in plasma (C_{max}) and time to reach C_{max} (T_{max}) directly from observed data and partial area under concentration-time curve from 0 to 48 hours (AUC₀₋₄₈) calculated using linear trapezoidal interpolation. Appropriate parametric and non-parametric comparisons depending on the distribution of data {normal or not} were done for multiple followed by two group comparisons for both matched and unmatched data. The level of significance was set for multiple (p<0.05) and binary group comparisons (unadjusted p < 0.0083 across 4 groups).

Relative oral bioavailability was assessed using the confidence interval approach for evaluation of average bioequivalence (ABE) for non-replicate cross-over studies adopted from standard guidelines [189]. Evaluations were based on log transformed estimates of normally distributed dependent variables namely C_{max} and $AUC_{0.48}$ (I).

3.5 PROCEDURES FOR PHARMACOKINETIC STUDIES IN PEDIATRIC PATIENTS (III, IV)

3.5.1 Selection of pediatric patients

Children aged between 6 months to 5 year old were eligible if they had microscopically confirmed uncomplicated *P. falciparum* malaria mono-infection as defined by WHO [3], (Paper III and IV) and parental/ guardians consent. Exclusion criteria included weight <5 kg; severe / complicated malaria including hemoglobin < 5 mg/dl; mixed plasmodia infection; medication known to influence CYP3A4/5 enzymes; receipt of AL in the past 28 days [3].

3.5.2 POPULATION PHARMACOKINETIC (PPK) STUDY IN CHILDREN UNDER FIVE YEARS (IV)

3.5.2.1 Population pharmacokinetics study design

This was a prospective, non-comparative observational study. Children (6 months to < 5 years) with uncomplicated falciparum malaria were consecutively approached and screened for eligibility. Sample size was based on consideration for a non-comparative observational study, and with a target of 70 patients [191]. However our primary outcome was population PK, where a sample size ≥ 50 is considered reasonable [192]. To increase the power of the study, about 20 per dose group with intense samples or 30 per group with sparse sampling was needed [192].

3.5.2.2 Data collection for PPK study in children under five years

The study was conducted between September 2013 and June 2014.

Clinical and laboratory {malaria microscopy, filter spot for genotyping, hematological, biochemical and pharmacokinetic} baseline data were collected. Thereafter children were treated with standard AL doses {Dispersible *Coartem* [®] 20mg A/120mg L: 5 to \leq 15 kg received 1 *tablet*, and 15 to \leq 25 kg received 2 *tablets*}. The six doses were scheduled at about 0, 8, 24, 36, 48 and 60 hours. Doses were administered with milk {50ml / tablet} or maize porridge plus oil {50ml plus 1.5 ml oil / tablet} in case of co-enrolled participants in the nested comparative bioavailability study (III). All initial doses and at least one of the doses on subsequent dosing days were supervised. A population PK sampling design was used to obtain sparse samples (0.5 - 1 ml, 1 to 8 venous blood samples/ participant) during a 28 days follow up period at various times. All participants were scheduled for PK sampling, clinical and malaria microscopy follow up on days 0, 3, 7, 14, 21 and 28. The primary outcome was population PK of LUM (IV). Efficacy outcomes and tolerability were secondary outcomes.

3.5.2.3 Population pharmacokinetic analysis

Fifty five children contributed data to the PPK dataset. Several structural PK models (1, 2, and 3 compartmental models with first-order absorption and elimination, with and without T_{lag} for extravascular input) with varied error models were explored using nonlinear mixed effect approach NONMEM Version 7.3.0 (NONMEM, version 7.3.0, ICON, Hanover, MD). The final descriptive model for LUM (using NONMEM by ADVAN4) was a two-compartment PK model with first order absorption with lag time and elimination; parameterized in terms of apparent oral clearance (CL/F), inter-compartment clearance (Q/F), and apparent volumes of distribution of central (V_C/F) and peripheral (V_P/F) compartments, and first order absorption rate constant (KA). First order conditional estimation method (FOCE) was used. Subsequently the parent drug model was adapted with fixed KA and V_C/F fixed to 1 for the metabolite. The parent and metabolite were modeled sequentially (specified to NONMEM by ADVAN6 TRANS1 TOL=5).

Model improvement was done for only the parent drug, LUM. This was achieved by inclusion of significant covariates. These were body mass index (BMI) and age for LUM CL/F. Age was included with incorporation of CYP3A4 ontogeny adapted from Johnson et al., 2006 [170]. Weight was incorporated in the LUM V_C/F model. Incorporation of BMI into the CL/F model explained variability due to weight and stunting.

$$CL/F = CL/F_{REF} \bullet \left((BMI/16.62)^{CL/F_{BMI}} \right) \bullet \left(\left(1 * \left(AGE^{CL/F_{AGE}} \right) \right) / \left(0.31 + AGE^{CL/F_{AGE}} \right) \right)$$
$$V_C/F = V_C/F_{REF} \bullet \left((WT/13.0)^{V_C/F_{WT}} \right)$$

Where CL/F and V_C/F are the typical values centred on reference median BMI of 16.62 Kg/m² and median body weight of 13.0 kg. A log additive residual error model was used.

Model discrimination for nonhierarchical base model was based on significance of changes in the objective function {i.e., $-2 \times \log$ likelihood (LL) which approximates to objective function value, $\alpha < 0.05$ for covariate insertion for the forward step and <0.005 for backward deletion}, diagnostic plots of observed with predicted data and residual-time plots. The developed final model was tested for reliability using bootstrapping methods and evaluated using diagnostic plots, and prediction corrected visual predictive checks by comparing model predictions with observations [174].

3.5.2.4 Assessment of malaria treatment outcome

Malaria efficacy and adverse events were secondary outcomes in the PPK study (IV). Main assessment was day 28 PCR adjusted parasitological response. Malaria treatment outcomes was further categorized by day 28 clinical and parasitological response (PCR unadjusted) as adequate clinical and parasitological response (ACPR), early treatment failure (ETF), late parasitological failure (LPF) and late clinical failure (LCF) as described by WHO [193]; To assess predictors (covariates included baseline characteristics and PK outcomes) of treatment outcome, logistic regression was done.

3.5.3 COMPARATIVE BIOAVAILABILITY STUDY IN PEDIATRIC PATIENTS (III)

3.5.3.1 Comparative bioavailability study design

A food interventional, comparative bioavailability study (III), was nested in the observational PK study (IV). In an open label, parallel study design, a subset of children was block randomized in successive blocks of 4 to obtain subsequent balanced allocation. Randomization was done in two stages by dose block (1 and 2 tablets) and food intervention arms (milk or maize porridge plus oil) as described under section 3.5.2.2. We aimed at 12 children in each dose block / study food arm. Sample size was empirically set. In intensive pharmacokinetic study designs, 8-12 participants in each group provide sufficient data to test for differences in 2 independent groups, at an adequate power (1- β) of 80%, at α of 5% [194]. This has been previously demonstrated in a LUM bioavailability study [130].

3.5.3.2 Data collection for comparative bioavailability study

Additional parental/guardian consent for co-enrollment was sought if a child enrolled for the PPK study was aged >1 to \leq 5 years and if parent was willing to stay and have their child participate in intensive sampling activities on Day 0.

Patients received standard AL treatment regimen and supplemented with food with comparable fat content (3.4.3), either milk {A, standard arm} or maize porridge plus vegetable oil {B, experimental arm} as described under section 3.5.2.2.

On Study Day 0, a baseline sample was collected before the first dose (0), thereafter intensive PK sampling (1ml) was done at 1, 1.5, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8 hours after the first dose. Thereafter patients completed their follow up in the PPK study (IV).

3.5.3.3 Data analysis for comparative bioavailability study

Individual PK data were assembled and profiles were examined for patterns of absorption.

Statistical and Pharmacokinetic evaluations: Lumefantrine PK outcomes (T_{lag} , C_{max} , T_{max} and partial areas under concentration-time curve) were determined as described under 3.4.4. The primary endpoint was LUM exposure up to 8 h after the first dose (AUC_{0-8h}). Relative oral LUM bioavailability was assessed with two group mean comparison with unequal variance t-test (Welch test, p < 0.05) using log transformed AUC_{0-8h} estimates (STATA version 12.1 (1985-2011, StataCorp LP)). Secondary outcomes included day 7 concentrations (C_(LUM)D7), LUM exposure between days 7 and 28 (AUC_{d7-28}) and clinical outcome as described in section 3.5.2.4.

3.6 DEVELOPMENT OF ANALYTICAL METHOD FOR LUMEFANTRINE AND METABOLITE (II)

A sensitive method for quantification of LUM and its metabolite, DBL was necessary to allow use of small volume plasma samples among children treated with AL. In anticipation of low LUM levels among pediatric patients beyond day 7, the previous in house, filter paper method with HPLC-UV detection had LLOQ of 300nM for both LUM (159ng/ml) and DBL (128 ng/ml) would not be sensitive enough for the anticipated low levels [126].

A bio-analytical method (II) was developed at the Therapeutic Drug Monitoring Laboratory, at the Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Karolinska University Hospital, Huddinge, Stockholm Sweden.

Chemical use and sample preparation. The target plasma volume was set to 100 μ l. The choice of solvents was based on literature and physicochemical properties of LUM, which is highly lipid soluble and highly bound to plasma lipoproteins [114]. Protein precipitation was the preferred method, to avoid laborious extraction procedures. Varying types and concentrations of solvents were explored for extraction and mobile phases in order to achieve the best chromatographic separation. Acetonitrile (100%) yielded the best results for a one step extraction protein precipitation method. Methanol : DMSO (1:1) were used for LUM and DBL (Figure 2i) stock and intermediate solutions, while working calibrators and controls were spiked with known concentrations in previously tested drug-free plasma.



Figure 2i. Structure of lumefantrine (a) and desbutyl-lumefantrine (b)

Extraction was done by precipitating 100 μ l plasma using 400 μ L acetonitrile containing 54.7 ng/mL of deuterated LUM (LUM-d18) and 9.64 ng/mL of deuterated DBL (DBL-d9). These isotopes were labeled internal standard (IS) using deuterium at the butyl chains (II) (Figure 2ii).



Figure 2ii. *Structure of deuterated lumefantrine (LUM-d18) (c) and deuterated desbutyllumefantrine (DBL-d9) (d)*

At the start of method development, halofantrine was tested as an analogue structural IS, but dropped due to subsequent availability of isotope labelled compounds with an advantage of overcoming matrix effects and ion saturation [188]. After 30 seconds of vortexing the samples , these were centrifuged for 5 minutes (4200 G) and 450 μ L of the supernatant was transferred to new glass vials. Then 10 μ L of the supernatant was injected for liquid chromatographic separation.

Instrumentation and conditions. Chromatographic separation was carried out on a Hypersil Gold C18 column ($20 \times 2.1 \text{ mm}$, $1.9 \mu \text{m}$,Thermo Scientific) with a Hypersil Gold C8 guard column($10 \times 2.1 \text{ mm}$, $5\mu \text{m}$) at $30 \circ \text{C}$. Chromatographic separation was optimized by exploring different solvents' composition for mobile phases, as well as elution mode (isocratic/gradient), column temperature and flow rates. Preferred solvents, acidic water (0.5% formic acid in water) and acidic methanol (0.5% formic acid in methanol) were used as mobile phase A & B using gradient elution at a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min. A stepwise gradient elution was optimized as follows: 32% of solvent A at 0 min, sloped to 12% of A at 2.00 min, then 32% again at 2.01 min until 2.2 min. Total run time was 2.2 minutes. Mass spectrometry conditions were positive electro spray ionization (ESI+) using multiple reaction monitoring, with two product transitions validated for LUM and DBL (II).

Method validation. The quantitative method was validated according to standards guidelines for evaluating a method's performance in regard to precision, sensitivity, accuracy, recovery and stability [195]. Dilution integrity was checked in preparation for calculation of levels exceeding upper limit of quantification.
3.7 OTHER LABORATORY METHODS

3.7.1 High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) methods

Venous plasma LUM concentrations in the health volunteer study (I) were determined using an HPLC with ultraviolet detection (UV) technique with slight modification for plasma samples [126]. Plasma samples were vortexed them aliquots (100µl) were spiked with halofantrine as internal standard (50 µl, 144 µM in methanol). Acetonitrile (150µl) was then added and mixture vortexed for 1 minute, sonicated for 15 minutes and finally centrifuged at 3500 x g for 10 minutes. The supernatant (20µl) was injected and detection was done under chromatographic conditions as described by Ntale *et al.*, 2008. The plasma method was linear over a range of 52.9 – 2645 ng/ml, with intra-day and inter-day coefficients of variation < 11% and <13% respectively. The lower limit of quantification for LUM (LLOQ) was 100nM (52.9ng/ml) for the modified plasma method.

3.7.2 Malaria microscopy

Blood smears {BS} for malaria microscopy were stained with 2% Giemsa (I, III, IV). In thick BS, parasites were counted against 200 white blood cells (WBC) . Parasite density was calculated as "asexual parasites counted against 200 WBC multiplied by 40" /µl, with an assumption of 8000wbc / µl [193]. Thin BS for species identification was done only on Study day 0 and day of parasite re-appearance (III, IV). Each slide was read independently twice on Study day 0, on day of parasite re-appearance and for some randomly picked slides (10%) on any other day. Discrepancies were resolved by a 3rd read.

3.7.3 Malaria genotyping

To differentiate between recrudescence and re-infection, paired filter paper blood samples [from day of treatment initiation and day of failure] were identified (III, IV). Parasite genotyping was done using nested polymerase chain reaction (PCR) characterization of the highly polymorphic *P. falciparum* merozoite surface proteins 2 gene (MSP-2) [196].

3.8 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Ethical permits for the study and shipment of specimen were obtained from Makerere University School of Medicine - Research and Ethics Committee (SOMREC 2009-54) and the Uganda National Council for Science and Technology (HS 567). The trial was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov {NCT01944189}. Informed consent was provided from adult volunteers and parent/ guardian of children. Good clinical practice and good laboratory practice standards according to ICH E6 guidelines were observed throughout the entire study period.

4 RESULTS

4.1 EFFECT OF FOOD ON ORAL BIOAVAILABILITY OF LUMEFANTRINE

4.1.1 Effect of food on oral bioavailability of lumefantrine in adult volunteers (I)

4.1.1.1 Adult volunteers

Thirteen Ugandan healthy volunteers (male {84.6%}, age and body weight ranged between 20- 26 years and 43-85 kg) participated in the four period cross-over study. Forty five individual concentration-time profiles (fasted state /water, A: n=12, milk, B: n=11, maize porridge, C: n=11, maize porridge plus vegetable oil, D: n=11) were available for pharmacokinetic analysis (section 3.1.1.2). A total of 10 /13 completed participation in all arms thus provided matched data for relative bioavailability comparisons.

4.1.1.2 Relative oral bioavailability of lumefantrine with food in adult volunteers

The extent of LUM absorption was comparably increased by fat containing food, B and D {median (range): C_{max} , 2 081 vs 3 827 nmol/L, p=0.059; and AUC₀₋₄₈: 47.5 vs 76.8 hr*µmol/L, p=0.14, for B and D respectively} (Figure 3, Table 2). Similarly poor absorption of L was observed after intake without fat, with no differences in fasted state, A compared with C (Figure 3, Table 2).

With B (milk) as reference, when AL was given with D (maize porridge with oil), the bioequivalence criteria {ratio of means ranging 0.80 - 1.25} was met and exceeded {ratio of means [90%CI]: 1.20 [0.85 - 1.69] and 1.25 [0.84 - 1.88] using dependent variables AUC₍₀₋₄₈₎ and C_{max} respectively}. Whereas when compared to groups B, LUM exposures while participating in both A and C did not demonstrate acceptable levels of bioequivalence (Table 2) (I).



Figure 3. *Median plasma lumefantrine concentrations over time in healthy adults following an oral single dose of artemether* (80mg)-lumefantrine (480mg) under different conditions. { \blacktriangle : fasted state (A, n=12), \Diamond (grey filled) : milk (B, n=11), \Box : maize porridge (C, n=11), X:maize porridge plus oil (D, n=11)}

Table 2. Relative bioavailability of lumefantrine after a single oral dose of AL (80)	ng,
artemether, 480mg lumefantrine) with different food combinations	

Dependent	Formulation Variable : Food			Ratio of means		
Variable		Reference	Test	t	(90%	%СI)
						(0.80-1.25)
	Ν	=10 ^b	N=1	.0 ^b		
AUC ₀₋₄₈	В	47.5 (29.7-106.4)	Α	14.6 (7.3-78.5)	0.30	0.21 - 0.42
(hr.µmol/L)			С	11.5 (4.8- 29.7)	0.22	0.16 - 0.32
			D	76.8 (36.4-158.4)	1.20	0.85 - 1.69
C _{max}	В	2.08 (1.62 - 4.36)	A	0.87 (0.28- 4.00)	0.34	0.22 - 0.51
(µmol/L)			С	0.70 (0.18 - 1.28)	0.23	0.15 - 0.35
			D	3.83 (2.05 - 5.60)	1.25	0.84 – 1.88

Median (range) values for estimates

^b: reduced sample size because of inclusion of only matched data, 10/13 participants

completed participation in all 4 food study arms {A: fasted state, B: milk,

C: maize porridge, D: maize porridge plus oil}.

4.1.2 Comparative bioavailability study in pediatric patients (III)

4.1.2.1 Patients: Pediatric Study Participants (III, IV)

A total of 70 children with uncomplicated P. *falciparum* malaria were enrolled, 41 of who were randomized to participate in the nested comparative bioavailability study (21 to milk and 20 to maize porridge plus oil). Thirteen children were excluded due to significant baseline LUM (Figure 4). Eight of who had been co-enrolled in the comparative bioavailability study. Patients' characteristics are summarized in Table 3 (II –IV).



Figure 4. Trial Profile

Description	Pharmacokinetic Study (6 doses)	Nested Comparative Bioavailability study (Post-first dose)			vailability study
	All, evaluable	Subset evalua	ble	Milk (A)	Maize porridge + vegetable oil (B)
Ν	55	33	16		17
Dose blocks					
1 tablet, <15kg	38	<i>19</i>	10		9
12 - 24 mo(n)	n=9				
>24-59 mo(n)	n=29				
2 tablets, ≥ 15 kg	17	14	6		8
12 - 24 mo(n)	n=0				
>24-59 mo(n)	<i>n</i> =17				
Male, All	33 (57.9%)		8/16		11 / 17
Age, months (mo)					
All	35.5 (13.5 - 59.7)		35.8 (16.4-57.7)	41.9 (17 -59.7)
1 tablet	$28.6(13.5-57.7)^{*13}$	a	29.9 (16.4-57.7)	29.0 (17.0 - 50.6)
2 tablets	47.6 (35.1- 59.7)* ^{1a}		42.6 (.	$35.1-48.5)^{*2}$	53.2 (36.7 - 59.7)* ²
Weight, kg					
All	13.0 (9.0 – 17.4)		13.6 (9.5-16.0)	14.5 (9.5 -17.4)
1 tablet	12.0 (9.0 -14.8)		12.0 (9.5 -14.0)	11.4 (9.5 -14.5)
2 tablets	15.2 (15.0-17.4)		15.0 (15.0-16.0)	15.6 (15.0-17.4)
Height, cm	88.2 (69.5 - 104.7)				
Total LUM dose, mg/kg			First	LUM dose, mg	g/kg/dose
All	62.4 (48.6 - 96.0)		11.5 (8	8.6 - 16.0)	12. 6 (8.3 - 16.0)
1 tablet	60.0 (48.6 -79.8) * ¹¹	L	10.0 (8	8.6 - 12.6)	10.5 (8.3 - 12.6)
2 tablets	93.0 (82.8 - 96.0)* ¹¹	L	16.0 (15.0 -16.0)	15.4 (13.8 - 16.0)
Baseline	11340 (8 - 688640)		14460	(16 -	936 (16- 127120)
parasitemia, /µL			50336	0)	
All values are stated	as median (range)			*1a,	, *1b,*1L, *2: p value
of <0.0001					

Ex: 22 participants participated in only population PK activities

4.1.2.2 Comparative oral bioavailability of lumefantrine in pediatric patients (III)

Primary outcome. Thirty three children were evaluable. (Figure 4, Table 3). After the first AL dose, early LUM exposure (AUC_{0-8h}) was comparable between the two arms A {milk, n=16} and B {maize porridge plus oil , n=17}, (GM {95%CI}: 6.01 h*µg/ml {3.26-11.1} vs 6.26 h*µg/ml {4.5 -8.43}, p=0.9 for A and B respectively) (Table 4). Less interindividual variability in AUC_{0-8h} was observed in B (p=0.01) compared to A (Fig. 5, Table 4).



Figure 5. Distribution of AUC_{0-8h} [h*ng/mL] estimates (log –transformed), after the first artemether-lumefantrine dose across food arms (A & B) and dose groups (1 or 2 AL Tablets). Reference midline in box is a median value (IQR) with whiskers as non-outlier upper and lower range, and "*"as outliers. Food: A: Milk, B: Maize porridge plus oil (all participants dosed with 1 or 2 tablets). Dose groups: 1 =1 tablet containing 120 mg LUM; 2 = 2 tablet total 240 mg LUM

	A Milk	B Porridge plus Oil	p value
All	16	17	
1 tablet, <15kg	10	9	
2 tablets ≥15kg	6	8	
LUM/dose, mg/kg/dose	11.5 (8.6 - 16.0)	12. 6 (8.3 - 16.0)	0.9 ^w
Parameters after fi AUC _{0-8h} , h.µg/mL	irst dose		
All, GM(95%CI)	6.01 (3.26 - 11.1)	6.26 (4.65 - 8.43)	0.9^{t}
Dose Corrected AU	C _{0-8h} , h/L/kg		
All, GM(95%CI)	0.49 (0.27 - 0.86)	0.49 (0.36 -0.66)	0.9972 ^t
Parameters after n	nultiple doses		
Day 7°, ng/mL	350 (136 - 9647), n=14 ^{o1}	376 (158 - 6142), n= $13^{\circ 2}$	0.73 *
<i>AUC_{d7-28},</i> h μg/mL	50 (20 – 493), n=13	87 (27 – 435), n=13	0.59 ^w

 Table 4: Comparison of lumefantrine pharmacokinetic estimates after oral doses of artemether-lumefantrine with different food among under five year old children with malaria

GM (95%CI): geometric mean and its 95% confidence interval

t: t test with unequal variance

w: Wilcoxon rank-sum (Mann-Whitney) test. *=0.02 **=0.006

O: Day 7 including outliers. If excluded o1 = 9647, then A (n=13, 343 (136 - 1827 ng/ml)).

if excluded o2=6142, then B (n=12, 342 (158 – 1672) ng/ml).

 $AUC_{d7\text{-}28}$: Truncated area under the concentration curve between 7 and 28 days

Secondary outcome. Upon completion of multiple doses, $C_{(LUM)}D7$ and area under the concentratin curve between 7 and 28 days (AUC_{d7-28}) were comparable across the 2 food arms (Table 4). Notably, LUM exposure was significantly higher among bigger children $\{> 15 \text{ kg}\}$ receiving 2 tablet dose than smaller children $\{< 15 \text{ kg}\}$ dosed with 1 tablet {median C_(LUM)D7: 505 [192-9647] vs 289 [136-1826] ng/ml, p=0.02 and AUC_{d7-28}: 108 [42-493] vs 41 (20 -167) hr-µg/ml, p=0.006 for 2 and 1 tablet respectively}. However LUM dose-adjusted exposures were not significantly different (III).

4.1.3 Comparison of adult volunteers and pediatric patients findings

Among healthy adults, partial area 8 hours after a dose {AUC_(0-8 h)} correlated well with that truncated at 48 hours {AUC_(0-48 h)} ($\tau = 0.42$, p=0.007). With reference to early partial exposure of LUM at 8 h, AUC_(0-8 h) did not significantly differ, when compared across study populations for milk (median: 5.4 µg/ml vs. 6.6 µg/ml, p=0.77 for adults and pediatric patients respectively) and maize porridge plus oil (8.4 µg/ml vs. 7.4 µg/ml, p=0.31, for adults and pediatric patients respectively) (Table 5). Notable differences included weight adjusted LUM dose and delayed T_{lag} in sick children compared to healthy adult volunteers in the milk group (Table 5).

Description	Adult volunteers	Pediatric Patients	<i>p</i> value	
		(< 5 year)	P	
	Single dose	After first dose		
n				
Milk	11	16		
Maize porridge plus oil	11	17		
Lumefantrine dose, mg/kg/dos	re			
Milk	8.0 (5.9 - 10.9)	11.5 (8.6 - 16.0)	0.0006	
Maize porridge plus oil	8.1 (5.6 - 11.2)	12. 6 (8.3 - 16.0)	0.0002	
T_{lag}, h				
Milk	1.02(1.00-2.00)	1.87 (0.92 - 3.1)	0.004	
Maize porridge plus oil	1.02 (1.00 - 2.05)	1.55 (0.65 - 3.02)	0.11	
T _{max} , h				
Milk	6.00(4.00 - 24.0)	6.17 (3.13 - >8.0)	0.9	
Maize porridge plus oil	6.00 (4.00 – 24.0)	7.85 (4.03 - >8.0)	0.2	
Cmar. ng/ml				
Milk	1101 (857 - 2308)	1836 (177 – 11545)	0.69	
Maize porridge plus oil	2024 (1084 - 2963)	1718 (636 - 6684)	0.62	
$AUC_{(0,8h)}$, h^*ug/ml				
Milk	5.4 (4.2 - 10.1)	6.6 (0.5 - 36.2)	0.77	
Maize porridge plus oil	8.4 (3.4 – 14.5)	7.4 (1.6 - 11.9)	0.31	

Table 5. Comparison of lumefantrine pharmacokinetics after a single oral dose of
AL among healthy adult volunteers and children with uncomplicated P. falciparum
malaria

Values are Median (range)

AL tablet contains 20 mg artemether and 120 mg lumefantrine

Children: < 15 kg dosed 1 tablet of AL, \geq 15 - < 25 kg dosed 2 tablets Adults: \geq 35 kg dosed 4 tablet of AL

4.2 PHARMACOKINETICS OF LUMEFANTRINE AND DESBUTYL-LUMEFANTRINE IN PEDIATRIC PATIENTS (IV)

4.2.1 Population pharmacokinetics of LUM and DBL in < 5 year old children (IV)

Fifty five children were included in the population PK evaluations contributing 453 and 233 data points for LUM and DBL respectively (Figure 4, Table 3). According to the current fixed weight-based AL dosage, variation in LUM total dose ranged between 48.6 and 96.0 mg/kg (Table 3). Children $\{\geq 15$ kg, n=17\} dosed with 2 tablet notably received higher LUM dose {median: 93 vs 60 mg/kg, p<0.00001} and were older {median age: 46.6 vs 28.6 months, p<0.00001} than those dosed under 1 tablet dose group {< 15kg, n=38} (Table 3). Twenty three children (40.3 %) were stunted, and 2 children (3.5 %) were underweight. Overall median BMI was 16.6 (range: 13.6 – 26.2) kg/m² and with no difference between children < 24 months {16.6 (range 15.4 – 22.4) kg/m²} and those > 24 months {16.6 (range 13.6 – 26.2) kg/m²}.

A two compartment PK model adequately described both the PPK of LUM and DBL (Figure 6). Detailed model development trail and diagnostics are presented in IV.



Figure 6. *Goodness of fit plots for final lumefantrine and metabolite in < 5 year old Ugandan children.* Observed against population and individual predicted concentrations on a logarithmic (10) scale.

Inter-subject variability of CL/F was partly explained by BMI and age (incorporating CYP3A4 ontogeny) (Table 6). The CL/F of LUM decreased with increasing BMI (Figure 7). Detailed paired plots showing other covariates and PK outcomes in (IV). The BMI (weight {kg} / (height {m})²) explained both weight and height thus catered for weight and stunting (height for age) as significant covariates for CL/F. BMI alone in the CL/F model explained 5% of the inter-subject variability (from 29% in base model to 24% with BMI in CL/F model) and when age was also included, they both reduced unexplained inter-subject variability in the final CL/F model by 6.8 % (from 29% in base model to BMI in CL/F model : 24% and BMI and age in CL/F model: 22.2%). Inter-subject variability of V_C/F was explained to a certain extent by weight. The inter-subject variability in V_C/F decreased from 83.7% in the base model to 78.9% in the final V_C/F model with weight included.

Run	Model	OFV	cf.	df	LLD	Sig.
1	Base model - one residual error model	341.035				
2	Base model - two residual error models	309.077	1	1	-31.958	yes
Forw	ard Stepping (p=0.05)					
3	CL/F~WT	308.670	2	1	-0.407	no
4	CL/F~STUNTING	294.445	2	1	-14.632	yes
5	CL/F~BMI	294.401	2	1	-14.676	yes
6	CL/F~BMI & V _C /F~WT	292.746	5	1	-1.655	no
7	CL/F~BMI, CL/F~AGE; V _C /F~WT	287.934	6	1	-4.812	yes
Back	Backward Elimination (<i>p</i> =0.005)					
8	"- C/F~AGE"	292.748	7	1	4.814	yes
9	"- C/F~BMI, CL/F~AGE"	307.643	7	2	19.709	yes
9	"-CL/F~BMI,-CL/F~AGE; - V _C /F~WT	309.077	7	3	21.143	ves

Table 6. Summary of significant factors in the covariate analysis

CL/F: apparent oral clearance, V_C/F: apparent central volume of distribution,

BMI: Body mass index, WT: Weight (kg) AGE: Age in months,

Sig.: Significant if LLD (change in 2 log likelihood value for compared models) for 1, 2 and 3 df (degrees of freedom) is >7.88, >10.6, >12.84 at p<0.005 or >3.84, >5.99, >7.81 at p<0.05 respectively.



Figure 7. Plots showing the relationship between apparent oral clearance(CL/F) and significant covariates: (a) body weight, (b) age and (c) body mass index (BMI). Open blue squares: age = < 24 months; filled red circles: age = > 24 months.

Typical values for LUM and DBL are summarized in the Table 7. The population mean T_{lag} (ALAG1) for LUM was 0.98h and LUM mean absorption rate constant was 0.0383 (RSE of 11.9%).

Description	Population mean	RSE [#]	IIV (%CV)	RSE [#]
Lumefantrine	2			
$CL/F (L h^{-1})$	3.19	24.4%	0.0492 (22.2)	31.3%
CL/F _{AGE}	-0.423	27.2%		
CL/F _{BMI}	-1.10	-		
	29.1	1.00/	0 (22 (78 0)	20.70/
$V_{C}/F(L)$	28.1	18%	0.023 (78.9)	30.7%
$V_{\rm C}/F_{\rm WT}$	1.06	-		
$Q/F (L h^{-1})$	0.176	15.6%		
$V_{P}/F(L)$	58.4	16.2%		
$KA(h^{-1})$	0.0383	11.9%		
ALAG1 (h)	0.98	-	0.0029 (5.39)	
Desbutyl-lum	efantrine			
$CL_M (L h^{-1})$	0.0807	-		

 Table 7. Summary of population pharmacokinetic parameters estimates for

 lume
 fantrine and desbutyl-lume

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

 n
 n

CL/F, Q/F, KA, V_C/F , and V_P/F are typical values of LUM apparent oral clearance, inter-compartment clearance, absorption rate constant, apparent volume of distribution of central and peripheral compartment at the reference BMI (16.62 kg/m²) and weight (13.0 kg).

IIV: Inter-individual variability. CL/F_{AGE} , CL/F_{BMI} , V_C/F_{WT} : Effect of age and BMI on CL/F, effect of weight on V_C/F . CL_M : rate of elimination of the metabolite.

#^{\cdot} based on 300 bootstrap runs, relative standard errors (RSE = $100 \times (\text{standard error/mean}))$.

In this study, the CL/F of LUM was found to decrease with age, from one to 5 years old (Figure 7). On average, the change in LUM CL/F from ">1 - 2 years old" to "> 2 years old" was approximately -20.6%. The population median CL/F from empiric Bayesian individual parameter estimates which was 1.33 L/hr. Comparing individual LUM CL/F estimates among children (38 / 55) receiving the same dose (< 15 kg, 1 AL tablet), children who were older than 24 months {n = 29} had significantly lower estimates than their younger counterparts {< 24 months, n = 9} (median {range}: 1.27 {0.79 - 1.91} vs 1.6 {1.05 - 2.14} L/h, p=0.046}). With reference to the median BMI of 16.62 kg/m² for our dataset, the estimated LUM CL/F for a typical 12, 24, 36, 48, and 60 months old were 1.69, 1.46, 1.32, 1.23 and 1.16 L/hr respectively. Thus, LUM CL/F decreased by 31.4% from 12 to 60 months of age.

Desbutyl-lumefantrine. The fraction of DBL formed was estimated to be 0.0542%. The rate of elimination of DBL was estimated to be 0.0807 L/h. Transfer rate constant of DBL from central to peripheral (K45) and from peripheral to central metabolite compartments (K54) were 0.0448 and 0.00804 h^{-1} .

The visual predictive check confirmed good predictive performance of the final pharmacokinetic LUM and DBL model (Figure 8).



Figure 8. *Prediction Corrected Visual Predictive Check of the final pharmacokinetic lumefantrine (LUM) and desbutyl-lumefantrine (DBL) model.* Open blue diamond shapes: observed concentrations of LUM and DBL. Solid and dotted line: shows 50th, 2.5th and 97.5th prediction intervals with associated 95% confidence intervals.

4.2.2 Secondary pharmacokinetic outcomes

In this < 5 year old population, median $C_{(LUM)}D7$ (n=46) was 441 (136-9647) ng/mL. Notably $C_{(LUM)}D7$ was significantly higher among children dosed 2 tablets compared to those dosed with 1 tablet {median: 586 (192 – 9647) vs 315 (136 – 5418) ng/ml, p=0.04}. For children aged < 24 months and those > 24 months, $C_{(LUM)}D7$ were not significantly different (p=0.09) (Table 3). All the children who received 2 tablets of AL exceeded 280 ng/ml, except for one child (1 / 13) whose $C_{(LUM)}D7$ was 192ng/ml. Of the children who received 1 tablet of AL, 15% (5 / 33) had $C_{(LUM)}D7 < 175$ ng/ml and 36% (12 / 33) had concentrations < 280 ng/ml.

Overall computed AUC (AUC_{0-inf}) was significantly higher among children who received 2 tablets compared to those dosed with 1 tablet (median AUC_{0-inf} : 181 vs. 93 hr*µg/ml, p<0.00001) but LUM dose-adjusted AUC_{0-inf} was not significantly different (p= 0.0544) (Figure 9). The observed non-significant increase in dose adjusted AUC among older children receiving higher doses (240mg vs. 120mg) may imply that absorption does not increase proportionately with increased doses. However notably, comparing children in the same "1 AL tablet" dose group, those aged > 2 years {n=30} had higher AUC_(0-inf) {95 vs. 75 hr*µg/ml p=0.037} and dose adjusted AUC { 0.79 (0.56–1.26) vs. 0.63 (0.47 – 0.95) hr/mL/kg , p=0.049} than their counterparts aged < 2 years (Figure 9). This is in line with the fact that CL/F is lower among children > 24 months.

The day 7 DBL concentrations ranged from 0 to 74.2 ng/ml (median of 14.7 ng/ml). The ratios of DBL / L UM varied between 1/40 - 1/10.



Figure 9. Distribution of LUM exposure ($AUC_{0.inf}$ and Dose adjusted $AUC_{0.inf}$), after standard 6 doses of artemether-lumefantrine among under five year old children treated for uncomplicated malaria. Reference midline is the median.

Dose groups (1 & 2): 1 tablet = 120 mg LUM, 2 tablets = 240 mg LUM. Age categories: 1 = < 24 months, $2 = \ge 24$ months.

4.2.3 Treatment outcomes and relationship with pharmacokinetic outcomes

Efficacy assessment as per intention to treat analysis was done. Day 28 PCR unadjusted treatment outcomes were as follows: Out of the 70 children enrolled, 53 (81%) had ACPR, 1 experienced ETF, 3 LPF, 1 LCF and 12 unknown parasitological outcomes, since smears were not done either due to earlier withdrawal or lost to follow up. Per protocol analysis, 9 children had unknown parasitological outcomes; 46 of 55 PPK evaluable children were evaluable for the clinical efficacy outcome (WHO Day 28 PCR unadjusted treatment outcomes) follows: 41 had ACPR, 1 experienced ETF, 3 LPF, and 1 LCF.

Only one child of those with LPF had PCR verified parasite recrudescence on day 28. This was a 47.6 months old child, 17.4kg, BMI = 17.3 kg/m², initial parasitemia of 108,680/µl, and dosed 2 AL tablets with milk, total LUM dose of 84.7 mg/kg (14.1 mg/kg/dose). The child who experienced ETF developed danger signs on study day 1, despite reduction of parasite density by 89% and was rescued with intravenous (IV) artesunate. He was 41.9 months old, 10.5 kg, BMI=14.2 kg/m², initial parasitemia of 63,720 /µl and dosed 1 tablet with maize plus oil, LUM dose of 11.5 mg/kg/dose.

Overall, AL was well tolerated except for 2 children who experienced vomiting, and 2 diarrhea.

Treatment was completed by all the 70 children, including the one with early treatment failure whose AL treatment was resumed after IV artesunate.

Only one of these children had PCR verified treatment failure and neither LUM ($C_{(LUM)}D7$ and AUC_{0-inf}) nor DBL exposure was found to be a significant predictor of parasitologic failure. Among those with parasite re-infection, BMI was a predictor for parasite reappearance.

4.3 ANALYTICAL QUANTITATIVE METHOD FOR LUMEFANTRINE AND DESBUTYL LUMEFANTRINE (II)

A LCMS/MS method was developed for simultaneous determination of LUM and DBL concentrations in human plasma (100 μ l). Protein precipitation was the preferred extraction method using acetonitrile (400 μ l) containing 54.7 ng/ml of LUM-d18 and 9.64 ng/mL of DBL-d9 as internal standards. The validated measuring range was 21 – 529 ng/mL for LUM and 1.9 – 47 ng/mL for DBL, with a linear regression coefficient > 0.99 for the calibration curves of all runs. The minimum amount of plasma necessary was 100 μ l although smaller volumes were successfully tested including diluted samples with concentrations over the upper limit of quantification (II). Inter- and intra-assay precision was < 10% coefficient of variation (CV) for all levels of both LUM and DBL. Accuracy was within -9% to +6% for all levels of both LUM and DBL. The LLOQ for LUM and DBL were 21 ng/ml (40 nM) and 1.7 ng/ml (4 nM), respectively. Retention times of 1.7 minutes for LUM and LUM-d18 and 1.5 minutes for DBL and DBL-d9.

The short total run time of 2.2 minutes, allows a high sample throughput. The method was successfully applied for plasma LUM and DBL determination in children under 5 years of age with uncomplicated malaria, up to 28 days after a standard 3-day treatment with AL.

5 DISCUSSION

This thesis sought to optimize AL use in resource limited settings and also describe population PK of LUM in children < 5 year old with uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria. The overall aim was to provide the structural framework for a rational approach for re-evaluating AL dosage guidelines for children less than 5 years of age.

Effect of food on lumefantrine oral bioavailability

It is well established that dietary fat is essential for augmentation of LUM absorption [72, 129, 130]. In order to reduce the risk for development of resistance, it is essential to optimize drug exposure and avoid sub-therapeutic concentrations.

We demonstrated that LUM absorption was comparably augmented when AL was given with milk (standard) or maize porridge fortified with vegetable cooking oil (experimental) (I & III). This is attributed to similar fat content. This was initially examined among healthy adult volunteers (I). Addition of fat to maize porridge increased LUM AUC (0-48) by 600% compared with maize porridge alone. Whereas there was no difference between maize porridge alone and intake of AL under fasted state among adult volunteers. Both groups demonstrated lower ranges of LUM exposures relative to milk and maize porridge with oil (I). In agreement with previous studies [74, 75], we observed great inter-subject variability in LUM exposure. Greatest variance in adults was observed after dosing under fasted state (I). Despite the difference in variance of PK parameter estimates across the two food arms, it can be claimed that maize porridge with oil increased LUM absorption to the same magnitude as with milk in children with uncomplicated malaria (III). Notably among young children, less inter-individual variability in AUC_{0-8h} was observed in the maize plus oil group compared to the milk supplemented group (p=0.01). This could be due to different effect on gastric emptying time for solid feeds compared to liquids [198]. In addition, the observed reduced risk for sub-therapeutic LUM concentrations in the maize plus oil compared to those in the milk group suggests an advantage from an efficacy point of view. The clinical implications need to be further evaluated through larger effectiveness studies.

Though African diet has been considered adequate for LUM absorption [197] and the manufacturer recommends that AL administration "should be followed whenever possible by food/drink (e.g., milk, formula, pudding, broth, and porridge)" [81]; we have demonstrated that commonly available African food with little or no fat content, such as maize porridge cannot be reliably recommended to augment LUM absorption. Addition of fat or cooking oil to porridge should be advised.

Our food strategy aimed at prescribing minimal but sufficient volumes (50-100mL) of food to children, in order to ensure adequacy of fat content (>1.2g of fat) [130]. This is a practical approach as small children are unable to complete big portions of food [120]. Laboratory techniques geared at enhancing solubility of lipophilic oral drugs [199] like LUM have been explored [200, 201]. However new technological innovations are likely

to take a long while to maximally exploit formulations with enhanced solubility. Consequently the importance of dietary fat remains critical to augment LUM absorption.

Methodological considerations for the bioavailability studies

In both adult volunteers and pediatric patients studies, it was not possible to use overall exposure $\{AUC_{(0-infinity)}\}$ for bioavailability comparisons. Among adult volunteers, $AUC_{(0-infinity)}\}$ infinity) could not be determined in 23/45 individual profiles, because results for thawed samples collected were invalidated. Restriction of evaluations to partial area between 0 to 48 h post-dose {AUC_(0-48 h)}, a point with available data in all patients was considered reasonable because it is likely that absorption was completed by 48 h (I). It has been reported that oral absorption of LUM among adults is almost complete by about 18 h [74]. Among adult volunteers' profiles, we observed similar parallel trends in decline of concentration with time regardless of the food group (I). Therefore, it is unlikely that food intake affects elimination process. Among children with malaria, evaluations were restricted to 8 hours $\{AUC_{(0-8 h)}\}$, prior to the second dose (III). This was justifiable because interference from cumulative drug absorption sets in with subsequent dosing [74, 75]. In addition, it would not have been ethical and we could not delay the second dose among these pediatric malaria patients. The appropriateness of use of early partial area truncated at 8 hours was evaluated (Section 4.1.3, Table 5). Truncated exposure estimates after a single dose adequately evaluated effects of food on LUM absorption.

The healthy volunteer crossover design provided an advantage of matched comparisons where each participant was their own control. In the crossover study, average bioequivalence techniques were used to assess relative bioavailability (I). For the pediatric patients study which employed parallel design, traditional average bioequivalence techniques could not be employed due to lack of proportional evaluable subjects per dose block in each arm (III). The relative bioavailability was appropriately assessed using the two one-sided tests for comparisons of unmatched two samples [202]. In addition dose adjusted exposures were compared.

In general, wide variation in exposure was observed within and between groups. In addition individual differences while participating in different food arms were observed in the preceding volunteer study (I). However it was not feasible and we could not plan to assess "interchangeability" (using population or individual bioequivalence techniques (Section 1.6.1.1.2)) of use of either food supplement among patients. Selection bias in the pediatric study (III) was minimized by block randomization in two stages, by dose group (weight based) and food arm. Unfortunately we did not recruit targeted numbers for the 2 tablet dose group. This arose because we could not find enough numbers of heavier of children with malaria, weighing > 15 kg. Most children were appreciably small, light and short for their age (40% were stunted), but they didn't qualify to be categorized as underweight or wasted according to WHO standards [203].

It was for obvious reasons, impossible to ensure optimal fasted conditions (8 hours) before participation in the bioavailability study among sick children. Gastric emptying among children may be faster than that in adults [198].

Quantitative bioanalytical lumefantrine and desbutyl-lumefantrine method

A simple, fast and sensitive LCMS/MS method for quantification of LUM and DBL in small plasma volume was developed. The simplicity was achieved by the single extraction step, using acetonitrile for protein precipitation, which allows injecting a 10 μ l supernatant aliquote in the LC-MS/MS system. Another advantage is that the developed method requires minimal amount of plasma (100 μ l) which is obtained from approximately twice as much whole blood (200 μ l) which makes repeated sampling possible in pediatric studies. Further testing proved that it is feasible to use plasma volume as small as 25 μ l. The short total run time allows a high throughput. The method was successfully applied for plasma LUM and DBL determination in children under 5 years of age with uncomplicated malaria, up to 28 days after a standard 3-day treatment with AL. Determination of LUM and DBL in dry blood spots would be desirable for field studies.

Population Pharmacokinetics among under five year old malaria patients

The PPK of LUM and its metabolite, DBL was adequately described using a twocompartment PK model with first order processes. This is the first report characterizing the PPK of LUM and DBL among children under five years of age. Few LUM PPK studies among children have been done [120, 178]. However this is the first LUM populationbased PK model to incorporate ontogeny of LUM metabolizing enzymes in the CL/F model. The activity of CYP3A4 is very variable especially with age [164]. High interindividual variability in LUM disposition has been reported [72]. In our study, inter-subject variability in LUM CL/F was partly explained by BMI and age, while that in V_C/F was partially explained by weight. The LUM CL/F was slightly higher among children < 2 years, and decreased with age from 2 to 5 years old. This trend is consistent with the report from the meta-analysis of C_(LUM)D7 where lower concentration were observed in children below 2 years compared to those above 2 years of age, regardless of nutritional status [60, 169]. The observed trend of decreasing LUM CL/F with age after infancy has also been similarly reported for some other CYP3A4/5 substrates [165-167].

Our findings suggest that stunting is responsible for some of the unexplained variability in CL/F. Weight, on its own, had no effect on LUM CL/F. The effect of malnutrition on LUM PK disposition could not be assessed exhaustively since none of the children could be categorized as wasted, only 2 were underweight and 40% were stunted (height for age zscores < -2). Incorporation of BMI (a composite of weight and height) into CL/F model explained variability due to weight and stunting among these < 5 year old children. The LUM CL/F increased as BMI decreased. As described above, weight alone did not explain any inter-individual variability in the CL/F model but explained 4.8% of the variability in V_C/F . Weight was not a significant covariate, but the inclusion and retention in the V_C/F model was for allometric purposes (Table 6). This is contrary to what was reported in an earlier study among children and adults, where weight was the most influential covariate and impacted positively on both CL/F and V_C/F [178]. Other significant covariates for CL/F including age, height and in addition sex were also identified in that study [178]. An earlier dose finding trial and one of the very first LUM PPK studies among older children > 15 years and adults showed that CL/F increased with weight above 50 kg and age above 24 years [72]. In a recent study among children less than 2 years, age was shown to have had a positive influence on LUM bioavailability but it is not reported whether weight affected CL/F. However their CL/F model included allometric scaling in relation to weight. Other PPK studies among children ranging 1 to 10 years did not identify any patient characteristics as being influential on CL/F or V_C/F [117, 120].

Our estimated CL/F for a typical child 1 and 2 year old with reference to median BMI of 16.6 kg/m² approximates to the estimates reported by Tchaparian *et al.*, for children between 1 and 2 years of age (Table 1) [177]. Their CL/F population estimates are in agreement with our findings, where children younger than 24 months and with lower BMI had higher CL/F. The children studied [177] weighed much less (median weight was 8.43 kg, range 6.1 -13.0 kg, and no BMI reported) [177] than our children in the age range of 1-2 years (median 11.5 {range: 9-14.5} kg). Other pediatric studies reported much higher CL/F estimates (Table 1) [117, 120]. Some of the difference may have been caused by shorter sampling duration not appropriately encompassing the terminal elimination phase, differences in age, BMI, and the absence of allometric scaling for the PK parameters. For adult populations, other than age, variation may be due to pregnancy [118, 179] and drug- drug interactions [154, 180].

Estimates for V_C/F varied much more than those of CL/F between studies. In our analysis, the inter-individual variability in V_C/F remains greatly unexplained.

Desbutyl-lumefantrine PPK has been described in previous studies [117, 178-180], one of which was among children [117]. Some approaches, assumed 100% conversion of parent drug to metabolite [117, 180]. This may have resulted in biased estimation of DBL population PK parameter estimates. The rationale for assuming 100% conversion of LUM to DBL was not provided by the authors. Thus, we estimated the fraction of metabolite formed as part of the estimation of PK of DBL.

Methodological considerations for the PPK studies

The population analysis lacks information among children less than 1 year as these were not included. Assessment of PK-PD relationships was constrained given the small study population and the fact that we only had a few (n=3) parasite re-infections and only one with parasite recrudescence. The sample size was adequate for PK evaluations, mixed sampling design (intensive and sparse) was performed and several samples (2-8) were provided by most of the patients [204]. It was intended to cater for non-comparative assessment of efficacy in the study group as well. Unfortunately, the sample size was not adjusted for loss to efficacy follow up. Of note is the fact that logistic regression performed with available covariates, only yielded BMI as a predictor for parasite reappearance. In the logistic regression, both re-infections {n=3} and recrudescence {n=1} were considered parasitologic failure. Note that BMI is also major predictor of CL/F, implying that those with lower BMI had higher CL/F. This suggests that children with lower BMI may need higher dose.

Clinical outcomes and perspectives on clinical implications of our findings

We cannot overlook the efficacy of the current weight-fixed dosing regimens. Given our study population (evaluable n=55), only one recrudescence was registered. This was a child (17 kg, 47.6 months) dosed with 2 AL tablets (total LUM dose of 84.7 mg/kg). The child with the lowest $C_{(LUM)}D7$ was one of those with parasite re-infection, and the only one who experienced late clinical failure and. The 3 children who had PCR confirmed re-infections were older than 24 months but small with BMI much less than the population median (< 15.5 kg/m²). Given the fact that their weight was < 15kg, they were dosed with 1 AL tablet which resulted in total LUM weight adjusted dose of $\leq 60 \text{ mg/kg}$ ($\leq 10 \text{mg/kg/dose}$). Our observation is in agreement with an earlier report of total LUM dose between 50 and 79 mg/kg being a predictors of low $C_{(LUM)}D7$ and increased risk of malaria re-infection [80]. This further highlights the fact that children with lower BMI may need higher dose. However LUM has been shown to exhibit dose dependent absorption in animal studies [112] and similarly saturable LUM absorption has been reported in healthy volunteers [130]. We observed slight, non-significant increase in exposure (AUC-dose normalized) with increasing dose which indicates that saturable absorption might exist also in children. Allowing more time for prolonged LUM absorption, before administration of subsequent dose may be beneficial. Extended dosage schemes were earlier suggested for vulnerable populations at risk of lower LUM exposure [121, 149].

Though increasing LUM dose may pose a challenge, our findings highlight that exploration of age specific AL dose schemes, adjusted for BMI may provide rational AL doses for under five year old children regardless of nutritional status.

6 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Conclusions and implications

The thesis sought to provide and assess suitability of an alternative food supplement for AL. We have shown that if milk is not available, it is possible to recommend fortification of locally available carbohydrate rich staple food with little fat (maize porridge plus vegetable oil) to achieve similar LUM absorption. This is a strategy towards improving appropriate use of AL in resource limited user populations.

A simple, fast and sensitive analytical method for simultaneous quantification of LUM and its metabolite, DBL in human plasma was developed based on liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. The method was successfully applied for plasma LUM and DBL determination in children < 5 years of age with uncomplicated malaria, up to 28 days after a standard 3-day treatment with AL.

Current AL regimen employs fixed body weight-based dosing. We have demonstrated that LUM CL/F is partly a function of age and BMI while V_C/F of LUM is partly a function of body weight. In this under five year old children population, BMI, a composite variable of weight and height, was more important than weight and stunting alone in explaining the variability in LUM CL/F. The CL/F of LUM was slightly higher in those less than 2 years old when compared with those older than 2 years of age and it decreased with age as subject age increased from two to five years old. Additionally, the CL/F of LUM increased with decreasing BMI.

Our findings provide a structural pharmacokinetic framework for a rational approach to reevaluating AL dosage guidelines for children less than 5 years of age. The finding further suggests that age specific AL dose schemes with BMI adjustments could be considered for improved AL dosage regimen in under five year old children.

Recommendations for future work

- To explore PK-PD relationship (of LUM and DBL PK, parasitological response and patient characteristics) to address the question of rational dosage regimens for LUM in children under 5 years of age.
- To assess the impact of malnutrition on LUM exposure and malaria treatment outcomes among under five year old children during AL treatment.
 - $\circ~$ To further evaluate the influence of BMI on LUM exposure and treatment outcomes.
 - To assess whether BMI can be used as a practical basis for rational AL dose modification among children.
- To further explore the effectiveness of AL in a larger trial, when given with either oil fortified food as a practical alternative instead of milk under real life situations among < 5 year old children with uncomplicated malaria.

7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis is a result of training under the clinical pharmacology sub-program, part of the collaboration under the leadership of Prof. Lars L. Gustafsson between Karolinska Institute, Stockholm Sweden and Makerere University, Kampala Uganda, supported by SIDA.

Special thanks go to my mentor Professor Jasper Ogwal-Okeng and his wife for interesting me in teaching and encouraging me to pursue a career in Clinical Pharmacology.

This thesis will never have been accomplished without input from many people. My thanks go to all my supervisors for the support throughout the entire process from concept development to report writing. I am grateful for the additional roles each one of you have played to bring this to a successful end. My heartfelt gratitude to Associate Professor Urban Hellgren, my main supervisor for tirelessly and heavily sowing a seed in me, despite the moments of certainty I portrayed as to whether we may ever reap from it. I am sincerely grateful for both the academic and non-academic support throughout the entire process. I am grateful to Prof. Paul Waako and Prof. Celestino Obua for considering me worthy of the opportunity, to benefit from this grant and for creating conducive environment for me to pursue my studies. Prof. Lars L. Gustafsson, thank you for liaison of operational issues and assembling the group of collaborators.

I would like to thank Prof. Matti Sällberg, Head of Department Laboratory Medicine, Prof. Anders Rane and Assoc. Prof. Georgios Panagiotidis during their subsequent terms in office as Head, Division Clinical Pharmacology for the services rendered to me as a student.

I am grateful for the administrative support received from Dr Jackson Mukonzo, Margarita Mahindi, Margit Ekström, Catarina Cleveson, Marita Ward and Arja Kramsu.

Special thanks to Dr. Anton Pohanka, Prof. Lars L. Gustafsson and Prof. Olof Beck for granting me access to the laboratory facilities, time for and with the chemists, Dr Muhammad Ntale, Maria Andersson, Birgitta Ask, especially Margarita Mahindi and Antero V. Silva without whose precious support, it would not be possible to output results for this project.

I am very grateful to my Pharmacokinetics Modeling tutors, Dr. Markus Jerling, Professors Joel Owen and Ene Ette for the knowledge, supervision, guidance and/or co-authorship.

I delight in my many friends and collaborators for your tireless encouragement, survival tips and track of my progress. The research teams lead by Nelson Tigatola, Dr Godfrey Bbosa, Aloysius Lubega, Regina Nakafeero, and Moses Kiggundu in various capacities put efforts in tracking results, sample storage or overseeing participant welfare. I am thankful to the participants and the parents of the children for their commitment to the study activities.

Thanks to my family for the emotional support. Maama, Mrs Erioth Busuulwa emphasizing the need for education. My husband James and children Hannah, Jesse and Hagar for never getting in the way of my career and enduring the long deprivation of proximity. I am grateful to Jaaja Clementina, for taking care of my home and my sister, Naomi for my first 2 pairs of jeans, worn out up to the very last days.

I would like to thank the defense chairman, Prof Anders Rane, the board members and my opponent for putting aside time in honor of this scientific responsibility.

8 REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2015. (<u>http://www.who.int/malaria/publications/world-malaria-report-2015/wmr2015-without-profiles.pdf?ua=1</u>, 2015).
- Greenwood BM, Bojang K, Whitty CJM, Targett GAT. Malaria. *Lancet* 2005; 365: 1487-98
- 3. World Health Organization (WHO). Guidelines for the treatment of malaria. 3rd ed. Geneva: WHO; 2015.

apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/162441/1/9789241549127_eng.pdf

- 4. Ministry of Health, Uganda "National policy on malaria treatment 2005", 2005 http://www.health.go.ug/mcp/NationalPolicyonMalariaTreatment(07 03 06).pdf.
- 5. Uganda Ministry of Health. *Management of Uncomplicated Malaria*. A practical Guide for Health Workers. Malaria Control Programme 2005 3rd Edition
- 6. The Global Fund to fight AIDS tuberculosis and malaria 2005. Annual report 2005. *In:* The Global Fund (ed.). Geneva. <u>www.theglobalfund.org/en/archive/annualreports/</u>
- 7. Global Health Initiative. 2009. *The Future of Global Health: Ingredients for a bold and effective US initiative*. <u>http://www.theglobalhealthinitiative.org</u>
- 8. Ministry of Health (Uganda), WHO and UNICEF. Strategy for home based management of fever in Uganda, MOH: Kampala, Uganda. 2001.
- 9. World Health Organization (2004). *Scaling up home-based management of malaria: from research to implementation.*; WHO/HTM/MAL/2004.1096: TDR/IEC/HMM/04.1.
- 10. WHO (2005) The roll back malaria strategy for improving access to treatment through home management of malaria. In: WHO (ed.). Geneva.
- 11. Uganda Ministry of Health, 2010. Malaria Case Management: Home Based Management of Fever. Kampala, Uganda: Uganda Ministry of Health.
- 12. Kalyango JN, Lindstrand A, Rutebemberwa E, Ssali S, Kadobera D, Karamagi C, Peterson S, Alfven T. Increased use of community medicine distributors and rational use of drugs in children less than five years of age in Uganda caused by integrated community case management of fever. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2012; 87(5): 36-45.
- Sutherland CJ, Tanomsing N, Nolder D, Oguike M, Jennison C, Pukrittayakamee S, Dolecek C, Hien TT, Do Rosário VE, Arez AP, Pinto J. Two nonrecombining sympatric forms of the human malaria parasite Plasmodium ovale occur globally. *J Infect Dis* 2010; 201(10):1544–1550
- 14. Calderaro A, Piccolo G, Gorrini C, Rossi S, Montecchini S, Dell'Anna ML, De Conto F, Medici MC, Chezzi C, Arcangeletti MC. Accurate identification of the six human Plasmodium spp. causing imported malaria, including Plasmodium ovale wallikeri and Plasmodium knowlesi. *Malar J* 2013; 12 (1):1.
- Singh B, Kim Sung L, Matusop A, Radhakrishnan A, Shamsul SSG, Cox-Singh J, Thomas A, Conway DJ. A large focus of naturally acquired *Plasmodium knowlesi* infections in human beings. *Lancet* 2004; 363: 1017–24.
- Uganda Ministry Of Health in Collaboration with World Health Organization. Mid-Term Analytical Review of Performance of the Health Sector Strategic and Investment Plan 2010/11 - 2014/15 (Volume 2), September 2013

- 17. Government of Uganda, Ministry of Health: Mid Term Review Report of 2010 2015 Malaria Strategic Plan, March 2014.
 <u>https://www.k4health.org/sites/default/files/mtr_report_final.doc</u>
- The Republic Of Uganda, Ministry Of Health, Annual Health Sector Performance Report. Financial Year 2013/2014. October, 2014 http://www.ucmb.co.ug/files/UCMBdocs/Reports/ARTICLES/Final AHSPR
- 2013 2014.pdf
- 19. Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS) and ICF Macro. 2010. *Uganda Malaria Indicator Survey 2009*. Calverton, Maryland, USA: UBOS and ICF Macro.
- 20. Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS) and ICF International. 2015. *Uganda Malaria Indicator Survey 2014-15: Key Indicators*. Kampala, Uganda, and Rockville, Maryland, USA: UBOS and ICF International.
- 21. Moore DV, Lanier JE. Observations on two Plasmodium falciparum infections with an abnormal response to chloroquine. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 1961;10: 5-9.
- 22. Bruce-Chwatt LJ. Resistance of P. falciparum to chloroquine in Africa: True or false? *Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1970 ; 64: 776–84.
- 23. World Health Organization (1973). Chemotherapy of Malaria and Resistance to Antimalarials. Technical Report Series 529, 39-47. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- 24. Bunnag D, Harinasuta T. The current status of drug resistance in malaria. *Int J Parasitol* 1987; 17(1):169–180
- 25. Payne D. Spread of chloroquine resistance in *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Parasitol Today* 1987; 3:241-6.
- 26. Trape JF. The public health impact of chloroquine resistance in Africa. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2001; 64: 12- 17
- 27. Campbell CC, Chin W, Collins WE, Teutsch SM, Moss DM. Chloroquine-resistant Plasmodium falciparum from East Africa: cultivation and drug sensitivity of the Tanzanian I/CDC strain from an American tourist. *Lancet ii* 1979; 314(8153):1151-4.
- 28. Fogh S, Jepsen S, Effersoe P. Chloroquine-resistant Plasmodium falciparum malaria in Kenya. *Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1979; 73:228–229
- 29. Sezi CL, Nevil C, Ochen K, Munafu CG, Bekobita D. The response of Plasmodium falciparum to 4-aminoquinolines and pyrimethamine/sulfadoxine at six sites scattered throughout Uganda *Uganda Med J* 1991; 8: 33-46

In

- 30. Kamya MR, Bakyaita NN, Talisuna AO, Were WM, Staedke SG. Increasing antimalarial drug resistance in Uganda and revision of the national drug policy. *Trop Med Int Health* 2002; 7:1031–1041.
- 31. Ndyomugyenyi R, Magnussen P, Clarke S. The efficacy of chloroquine, sulphadoxinepyrimethamine and a combination of both for the treatment of uncomplicated *Plasmodium falaciparum* malaria in an area of low transmission in Western Uganda. *Trop Med Int Health* 2004; 9(1):47-52.
- 32. Dorsey G, Kamya MR, Ndeezi G, Babirye JN, Phares CR, Olson JE, Katabira ET, Rosenthal PJ. Predictors of chloroquine treatment failure in children and adults with falciparum malaria in Kampala, Uganda. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2000; 62(6):686-92.
- 33. Kamya MR, Dorsey G, Gasasira A, Ndeezi G, Babirye JN, Staedke SG, Rosenthal PJ. The comparative efficacy of chloroquine and sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine for treatment of

uncomplicated falciparum malariain Kampala, Uganda. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 2001; 95: 50-55

- 34. Garcia-Vidal J, Ngirabega JDD, Soldevila M, Navarro R, Bada J. Evolution of resistance of Plasmodium falciparum to antimalarial drugs in Rwanda, 1985–1987. *Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1989; 83(4): 490.
- 35. Lege-Oguntoye L, Adagu SI, Werbslinka, Ogala WN, Slotboom AB. Resistance of Plasmodium falciparum to sulfadoxine / pyrimethamine combination in semi-immune children in Zari,northern Nigeria. *Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1990; 84: 505-506.
- 36. McIntosh HM, Greenwood BM. Chloroquine or amodiaquine combined with sulfadoxinepyrimethamine as a treatment for uncomplicated malaria – a systematic review. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* 1998; 93: 265 - 270.
- 37. Staedke SG, Kamya MR, Dorsey G, Gasasira A, Ndeezi G, Charlebois ED, Rosenthal PJ. Amodiaquine, sulfadoxine/pyrimethamine, and combination therapy for treatment of uncomplicated falciparum malaria in Kampala, Uganda: a randomised trial. *The Lancet* 2001; 358(9279): 368-374.
- 38. Gasasira AF, Dorsey G, Nzarubara B, Staedke SG, Nassali A, Rosenthal PJ, Kamya MR. Comparative efficacy of aminoquinoline-antifolate combinations for the treatment of uncomplicated falciparum malaria in Kampala, Uganda. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2003; 68(2): 127-132.
- 39. Hatz C, Abdulla S, Mull R, Schellenberg D, Gathmann I, Kibatala P, Beck HP, Tanner M, Royce C. Efficacy and safety of CGP 56697 (artemether and benflumetol) compared with chloroquine to treat acute falciparum malaria in Tanzanian children aged 1–5 years. *Trop Med Int Health* 1998; 3(6): 498-504.
- 40. Yeka A, Banek K, Bakyaita N, Staedke SG, Kamya MR, Talisuna A, Kironde F, Nsobya SL, Kilian A, Slater M, Reingold A. Artemisinin versus nonartemisinin combination therapy for uncomplicated malaria: randomized clinical trials from four sites in Uganda. *PLoS Med* 2005; 2(7): 654 -662.
- 41. Slater M, Reingold A, Rosenthal PJ, Wabwire-Mangen F, Dorsey G. Artemisinin versus nonartemisinin combination therapy for uncomplicated malaria: randomized clinical trials from four sites in Uganda. *PLoS Med* 2005; 2:e190.
- 42. Mutabingwa TK, Anthony D, Heller A, Hallett R, Ahmed J, Drakely C, Greenwood BM, Whitty CJ. Amodiaquine alone, amodiaquine + sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine, amodiaquine + artesunate, and artemether–lumefantrine for outpatient treatment of malaria in Tanzanian children: A four-arm randomised effectiveness trial. *Lancet* 2005; 365: 1474–1480.
- 43. Koram KA, Abuaku B, Duah N, Quashie N. Comparative efficacy of antimalarial drugs including ACTs in the treatment of uncomplicated malaria among children under 5 years in Ghana. *Acta Trop* 2005; 95:194 203.
- 44. Bakyaita N, Dorsey G, Yeka A, Banek, Staedke SG, Kamya MR, Talisuna A, Kironde F, Nsobya S, Kilian A, Reingold A. Sulphadoxine-pyrimethamine plus chloroquine or amodiaquine for uncomplicated falciparum malaria: A randomized, multisite trial to guide national policy in Uganda. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2005; 72: 573- 580
- 45. Karunajeewa HA, Mueller I, Senn M, Lin E, Law I, Gomorrai PS, Oa O, Griffin S, Kotab K, Suano P, Tarongka N. A trial of combination antimalarial therapies in children from Papua New Guinea. *N Engl J Med* 2008; *359*(24), 2545-2557.
- 46. White NJ. The role of anti-malarial drugs in eliminating malaria. Malar J 2008; 7 (1): S8.

- 47. White NJ. Preventing antimalarial drug resistance through combinations. *Drug Resist Updat* 1998; 1:3 6.
- 48. White NJ, Olliaro PL. Strategies for the prevention of antimalarial drug resistance: rationale for combination chemotherapy for malaria. *Parasitol Today* 1996; *12*(10), 399-401.
- 49. World Health Organization, World Malaria Report. 2013, WHO Press, Geneva. www.who.int/malaria/publications/world_malaria_report_2013/en/
- 50. Falade C, Makanga M, Premji Z, Ortmann CE, Stockmeyer M, de Palacios PI. Efficacy and safety of artemether-lumefantrine (Coartem) tablets (six-dose regimen) in African infants and children with acute, uncomplicated falciparum malaria. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 2005; 99: 459 67.
- 51. Jima D, Tesfaye G, Medhin A, Kebede A, Argaw D, Babaniyi O. Safety and efficacy of artemether-lumefantrine in the treatment of uncomplicated falciparum malaria in Ethiopia. *E Afr Med J* 2005; 82: 387–90.
- 52. Makanga M, Premji Z, Falade C, Karbwang J, Mueller EA, Andriano K, Hunt P, de Palacios PI. Efficacy and safety of the six-dose regimen of arthemeter-lumefrantrine in pediatrics with uncomplicated *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria: a pooled analysis of individual patient data. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2006; 74: 991 998.
- 53. Dorsey G, Staedke S, Clark TD, Njama-Meya D, Nzarubara B, Maiteki-Sebuguzi C. Combination therapy for uncomplicated falciparum malaria in Ugandan children: a randomized trial. *JAMA* 2007; 297(20): 2210-2219.
- 54. Kabanywanyi AM, Mwita A, Sumari D, Mandike R, Mugittu K, Abdulla S. Efficacy and safety of artemisinin-based antimalarial in the treatment of uncomplicated malaria in children in southern Tanzania. *Malar J* 2007; 6(1), 146.
- 55. Faye B, Ndiaye JL, Ndiaye D, Dieng Y, Faye O, Gaye O. Efficacy and tolerability of four antimalarial combinations in the treatment of uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria in Senegal. *Malar J* 2007; 6:80.
- 56. Mukhtar E A, Gadalla NB, El-Zaki SE, Mukhtar I, Mansour FA, Babiker A, El-Sayed BB. A comparative study on the efficacy of artesunate plus sulphadoxine/pyrimethamine versus artemether-lumefantrine in eastern Sudan. *Malar J* 2007; *6*: 92.
- 57. Makanga M, Bassat Q, Falade CO, Premji ZG, Krudsood S, Hunt P, Walter V, Beck HP, Marrast AC, Cousin M, Rosenthal PJ. Efficacy and safety of artemether-lumefantrine in the treatment of acute, uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria: a pooled analysis. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2011; 85(5):793-804.
- 58. Abuaku B, Duah N, Quaye L, Quashie N, Koram K.Therapeutic efficacy of artemetherlumefantrine combination in the treatment of uncomplicated malaria among children under five years of age in three ecological zones in Ghana. *Malar J* 2012;*11*, 388.
- 59. Yeka A, Lameyre V, Afizi K, Fredrick M, Lukwago R, Kamya MR, Talisuna AO. Efficacy and Safety of Fixed-Dose Artesunate-Amodiaquine vs.Artemether-Lumefantrine for Repeated Treatment of Uncomplicated Malaria in Ugandan Children. *PLoS ONE* 2014; 9(12): e113311.
- 60. Worldwide Antimalarial Resistance Network (WWARN) AL Dose Impact Study Group. The effect of dose on the antimalarial efficacy of artemetherlumefantrine: a systematic review and pooled analysis of individual patient data. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2015; 15:692–702.
- 61. Ajayi IO, Browne EN, Bateganya F, Yar D, Happi C, Falade CO, Gbotosho GO, Yusuf B, Boateng S, Mugittu K, Cousens S. Effectiveness of artemisinin-based combination therapy

used in the context of home management of malaria: a report from three study sites in sub-Saharan Africa. *Malar J* 2008; 7(1):190.

- 62. Ngasala BE, Malmberg M, Carlsson AM, Ferreira PE, Petzold MG, Blessborn D, Bergqvist Y, Gil JP, Premji Z, Björkman A, Mårtensson A. Efficacy and effectiveness of artemether-lumefantrine after initial and repeated treatment in children< 5 years of age with acute uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria in rural Tanzania: a randomized trial. *Clin Infect Dis* 2011; *52*(7), 873-882.
- 63. Ngasala BE, Malmberg M, Carlsson AM, Ferreira PE, Petzold MG, Blessborn D, Bergqvist Y, Gil JP, Premji Z, Mårtensson A. Effectiveness of artemether-lumefantrine provided by community health workers in under-five children with uncomplicated malaria in rural Tanzania: an open label prospective study. *Malar J* 2011; *10*:64.
- 64. Betson M, Sousa-Figueiredo JC, Clifford S, Atuhaire A, Arinaitwe M, Adriko M, Adriko M, Mwesigwa G, Nabonge J, Kabatereine NB, Sutherland CJ, Stothard JR. Artemtherlumefantrine is partially effective for treating chronic multi-species malaria in Ugandan pre-school children. *Malar J* 2012;11(1):1.
- 65. Plucinski MM, Talundzic E, Morton L, Dimbu PR, Macaia AP, Fortes F, Goldman I, Lucchi N, Stennies G, MacArthur JR, Udhayakumar V. Efficacy of artemetherlumefantrine and dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine for treatment of uncomplicated malaria in children in Zaire and Uige Provinces, Angola. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2015;59(1):437-43.
- 66. Agarwal A, McMorrow M, Onyango P, Otieno K, Odero C, Williamson J, Kariuki S, Kachur SP, Slutsker L, Desai M. A randomized trial of artemether-lumefantrine and dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine in the treatment of uncomplicated malaria among children in western Kenya. *Malar J* 2013;12(1):1
- 67. Pfeil J, Borrmann S, Tozan Y. Dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine vs. artemether-lumefantrine for first-line treatment of uncomplicated malaria in African children: a cost-effectiveness analysis. *PLoS One* 2014; 9(4):e95681.
- 68. Kamya MR, Yeka A, Bukirwa H, Lugemwa M, Rwakimari JB, Staedke SG, Talisuna AO, Greenhouse B, Nosten F, Rosenthal PJ, Wabwire-Mangen F. Artemether-lumefantrine versus dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine for treatment of malaria: a randomized trial. *PLOS Clin Trial* 2007; 2(5), e20.
- 69. Yeka A, Dorsey G, Kamya MR, Talisuna A, Lugemwa M, Rwakimari JB, Staedke SG, Rosenthal PJ, Wabwire-Mangen F, Bukirwa H. Artemether-lumefantrine versus dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine for treating uncomplicated malaria: a randomized trial to guide policy in Uganda. *PLoS One* 2008; 3 (6): e2390.
- 70. Wanzira H, Kakuru A, Arinaitwe E, Bigira V, Muhindo MK, Conrad M, Rosenthal PJ, Kamya MR, Tappero JW, Dorsey G. Longitudinal Outcomes in a Cohort of Ugandan Children Randomized to Artemether-lumefantrine Versus Dihydroartemisininpiperaquine for the Treatment of Malaria. *Clin Infect Dis* 2014; 59(4): 509-516.
- 71. White NJ: Assessment of the pharmacodynamic properties of the antimalarial drugs in vivo. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1997; 41,1413–1422
- 72. Ezzet F, Mull R, Karbwang J. Population pharmacokinetics and therapeutic response of CGP 56697 (artemether + benflumetol) in malaria patients. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 1998; 46(6):553-61.
- 73. Ezzet F, van Vugt M, Nosten F, Looareesuwan S, White NJ. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of lumefantrine (benflumetol) in acute falciparum malaria. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2000; 44: 697-704

- 74. White NJ, van Vugt M, Ezzet F. Clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics and pharmacodynamics of artemether- lumefantrine. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 1999; 37:105-125
- 75. White NJ, Stepniewska K, Barnes K, Price RN, Simpson J. Simplified antimalarial therapeutic monitoring: using the day-7 drug level? *Trends Parasitol* 2008; 24:159-163.
- 76. Price RN, Uhlemann AC, van Vugt M, Brockman A, Hutagalung R, Nair S, Nash D, Singhasivanon P, Anderson TJ, Krishna S, White NJ. Molecular and pharmacological determinants of the therapeutic response to artemether-lumefantrine in multidrug-resistant *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. *Clin Infect Dis* 2006; 42:1570–1577
- 77. Denis MB, Tsuyuoka R, Lim P, Lindegardh N, Yi P, Top SN, Socheat D, Fandeur T, Annerberg A, Christophel EM, Ringwald P. Efficacy of artemether-lumefantrine for the treatment of uncomplicated falciparum malaria in northwest Cambodia. *Trop Med Int Health* 2006;11(12): 1800-7.
- 78. Rahman MM, Dondorp AM, Day NP, Lindegardh N, Imwong M, Faiz MA, Bangali AM, Kamal AM, Karim J, Kaewkungwal J, Singhasivanon P. Adherence and efficacy of supervised versus non-supervised treatment with artemether/lumefantrine for the treatment of uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria in Bangladesh: a randomised controlled trial. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 2008; *102*(9), 861-7.
- 79. Checchi F, Piola P, Fogg C, Bajunirwe F, Biraro S, Grandesso F, Ruzagira E, Babigumira J, Kigozi I, Kiguli J, Kyomuhendo J. Supervised versus unsupervised antimalarial treatment with six-dose artemether-lumefantrine: pharmacokinetic and dosage-related findings from a clinical trial in Uganda. *Malar J* 2006; 5 (1): 1.
- 80. Piola P, Fogg C, Bajunirwe F, Biraro S, Grandesso F, Ruzagira E, Babigumira J, Kigozi I, Kiguli J, Kyomuhendo J, Ferradini L. Supervised versus unsupervised intake of six-dose artemether-lumefantrine for treatment of acute, uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria in Mbarara, Uganda: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2005; 365(9469):1467-73.
- 81. Novartis, Coartem International Package Leaflet. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation East Hanover, New Jersey 07936 © Novartis. T2015-44/T2015-45 March 2015/March 2015
- 82. Jianfang Z. A detailed chronological record of project 523 and the discovery and development of qinghaosu (artemisinin). Strategic Book Publishing; 2013
- 83. The Novartis Malaria Initiative. Committed to malaria control and elimination. Novartis AG, CH-4002 Basel, Switzerland ©Novartis AG 2014 03/14 NP4 Nr. 142995 http://www.malaria.novartis.com/images/Brochure-Malaria-Initiative.pdf
- 84. Tu, Youyou. The discovery of artemisinin (qinghaosu) and gifts from Chinese medicine. *Nature Medicine* 2011; 17 (10): 1217–1220.
- 85. Hsu E. Reflections on the 'discovery' of the antimalarial qinghao. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2006; *61*(6): 666-670.
- 86. Li Y, Wu YL. How Chinese scientists discovered qinghaosu (artemisinin) and developed its derivatives? What are the future perspectives?. *Medecine tropicale: revue du Corps de sante colonial*, 1998; 58(3): 9-12.
- 87. Li GQ, Guo XB, Fu LC, Jian HX and Wang XH. Clinical trials of artemisinin and its derivatives in the treatment of malaria in China. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1994;88(1):5-6
- 88. Looareesuwan S. Overview of clinical studies on artemisinin derivatives in Thailand. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1994;88(1):S9-11
- 89. Na Bangchang K, Karbwang J, Thomas CG, Thanavibul A, Sukontason K, Ward SA, Edwards G. Pharmacokinetics of artemether after oral administration to healthy Thai males

and patients with acute, uncomplicated falciparum malaria. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 1994; 37:249-253.

- 90. Ali S, Najmi MH., Tarning J, Lindegardh, N. Pharmacokinetics of artemether and dihydroartemisinin in healthy Pakistani male volunteers treated with artemether-lumefantrine. *Malar J* 2010; 9: 275.
- 91. Lefévre G, Thomsen MS. Clinical pharmacokinetics of artemether and lumefantrine (Riamet (R)). *Clin Drug Investig* 1999; 18:467–480.
- 92. Svensson US, Jouppila MM, Hoffmann KJ, Ashton M. Characterization of the human liver in vitro metabolic pattern of artemisinin and auto-induction in the rat by use of nonlinear mixed effects modeling. *Biopharm Drug Dispos* 2003; 24 (2): 71-85
- 93. Teja-Isavadharm P, Nosten F, Kyle DE, Luxemburger C, Kuile FT, Peggins JO, Brewer TG, White NJ. Comparative bioavailability of oral, rectal and intramuscular artemether in healthy subjects: use of simultaneous measurements by high performance liquid chromatography and bioassay. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 1996; 42: 599-604
- 94. Nosten F, White NJ. Artemisinin-based combination treatment of falciparum malaria. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2007;77:181-92.
- 95. Gordi T, Huong DX, Hai TN, Nieu NT, Ashton M. Artemisinin pharmacokinetics and efficacy in uncomplicated-malaria patients treated with two different dosage regimens. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2002; 46(4):1026-31.
- 96. ter Kuile F, White NJ, Holloway P, Pasvol G, Krishna S. *Plasmodium falciparum*: in vitro studies of the pharmacodynamic properties of drugs used for the treatment of severe malaria. *Exp Parasitol* 1993;76: 85–95
- 97. Cumming JN, Ploypradith P, Posner GH. Antimalarial activity of artemisinin (qinghaosu) and related trioxanes: mechanism(s) of action. *Adv Pharmacol* 1997; 37: 253-297.
- 98. Krungkrai J, Burat D, Kudan S, Krungkrai S, Prapunwattana P. Mitochondrial oxygen consumption in asexual and sexual blood stages of the human malarial parasite, *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health* 1999; 30:636–642.
- 99. Wang J, Huang L, Li J, Fan Q, Long Y, Li Y, Zhou B. Artemisinin directly targets malarial mitochondria through its specific mitochondrial activation. *PLoS One*, 2010; *5*(3): e9582.
- 100. Udomsangpetch R, Pipitaporn B, Krishna S, Angus B, Pukrittayakamee S, Bates I, Suputtamongkol Y, Kyle DE, White NJ. Antimalarial drugs reduce cytoadherence and rosetting of Plasmodium falciparum. *J Infect Dis* 1996; *173*(3): 691-8.
- 101. Dondorp AM, Nosten F, Yi P, Das D, Phyo AP, Tarning J, Lwin KM, Ariey F, Hanpithakpong W, Lee SJ, Ringwald P. Artemisinin resistance in *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. *N Engl J Med* 2009; 361: 455–67.
- 102. Ashley EA, Dhorda M, Fairhurst RM, Amaratunga C, Lim P, Suon S, Sreng S, Anderson JM, Mao S, Sam B, Sopha C. Spread of artemisinin resistance in Plasmodium falciparum malaria. *N Engl J Med* 2014; 371(5), 411-23.
- 103. Cooper RA, Conrad MD, Watson QD, Huezo SJ, Ninsiima H, Tumwebaze P, Nsobya SL, Rosenthal PJ. Lack of artemisinin resistance in Plasmodium falciparum in Uganda based on parasitological and molecular assays. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2015; 59(8): 5061-4
- 104. Conrad MD, LeClair N, Arinaitwe E, Wanzira H, Kakuru A, Bigira V, Muhindo M, Kamya MR, Tappero JW, Greenhouse B, Dorsey G. Comparative impacts over 5 years of artemisinin-based combination therapies on Plasmodium falciparum polymorphisms that modulate drug sensitivity in Ugandan children. *J Infect Dis* 2014;210(3): 344-53

- 105. Boussaroque A, Fall B, Madamet M, Camara C, Benoit N, Fall M, Nakoulima A, Dionne P, Fall KB, Diatta B, Diémé Y. Emergence of Mutations in the K13 Propeller Gene of Plasmodium falciparum Isolates from Dakar, Senegal, in 2013-2014. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2016; 60(1):624-7.
- 106. World Health Organization. Practical chemotherapy of malaria. Report of a WHO Scientific Group. WHO Tech Rep Ser 805, WHO, Geneva;1990:124–126
- 107. Makanga Michael. A review of the effects of artemether-lumefantrine on gametocyte carriage and disease transmission. *Malar J* 2014;13:1
- Kumar S, Guha M, Choubey V, Maity P, & Bandyopadhyay U. Antimalarial drugs inhibiting hemozoin (β-hematin) formation: a mechanistic update. *Life Sci* 2007; 80(9): 813-828.
- 109. Dokomajilar C, Nsobya SL, Greenhouse B, Rosenthal PJ, Dorsey G. Selection of *Plasmodium falciparum pfmdr1* alleles following therapy with artemether-lumefantrine in an area of Uganda where malaria is highly endemic. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2006; 50:1893–1895.
- 110. Vaughan-Williams CH, Raman J, Raswiswi E, Immelman E, Reichel H, Gate K, Knight S. Assessment of the therapeutic efficacy of artemether-lumefantrine in the treatment of uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria in northern KwaZulu-Natal: an observational cohort study. *Malar J* 2012; *11: 434*.
- 111. Sisowath C, Stromberg J, Martensson A, Msellem M, Obondo C, Bjorkman A, Gil JP. In vivo selection of Plasmodium falciparum pfmdr1 86 N coding alleles by artemetherlumefantrine (Coartem). J Infect Dis 2005; 191:1014–1017.
- 112. Wahajuddin, Singh SP, Raju KS, Nafis A, Puri SK, Jain GK. Intravenous pharmacokinetics, oral bioavailability, dose proportionality and in situ permeability of anti-malarial lumefantrine in rats. *Malar J* 2011; *10:293*.
- 113. Lefèvre G, Carpenter P, Souppart C, Schmidli H, McClean M, Stypinski D. Pharmacokinetics and electrocardiographic pharmacodynamics of artemether-lumefantrine (Riamet®) with concomitant administration of ketoconazole in healthy subjects. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2002; *54*(5), 485-492.
- 114. Colussi D, Parisot C, Legay F, Lefèvre G.Binding of artemether and lumefantrine to plasma proteins and erythrocytes. *Eur J Pharm Sci* 1999;9(1):9-16.
- 115. Lefèvre G, Bindschedler M, Ezzet F, Schaeffer N, Meyer I, Thomsen MS. Pharmacokinetic interaction trial between co-artemether and mefloquine. *Eur J Pharm Sci* 2000; *10*(2), 141-151.
- 116. German P, Parikh S, Lawrence J, Dorsey G, Rosenthal PJ, Havlir D, Charlebois E, Hanpithakpong W, Lindegardh N, Aweeka FT. Lopinavir/ritonavir affects pharmacokinetic exposure of artemether/lumefantrine in HIV-uninfected healthy volunteers. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2009; 51*(4): 424-9.
- 117. Salman, S, Page-Sharp M, Griffin S, Kose K, Siba PM, Ilett KF, Mueller I, Davis TM. Population pharmacokinetics of artemether, lumefantrine, and their respective metabolites in Papua New Guinean children with uncomplicated malaria. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011; 55 (11): 5306-5313.
- 118. Kloprogge F, Piola P, Dhorda M, Muwanga S, Turyakira E, Apinan S, Lindegårdh N, Nosten F, Day NP, White NJ, Guerin PJ. Population pharmacokinetics of lumefantrine in pregnant and nonpregnant women with uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria in Uganda. *CPT Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol* 2013; *2;e83*

- 119. Mwesigwa J, Parikh S, McGee B, German P, Drysdale T, Kalyango JN, Clark TD, Dorsey G, Lindegardh N, Annerberg A, Rosenthal PJ. Pharmacokinetics of artemetherlumefantrine and artesunate-amodiaquine in children in Kampala, Uganda. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2010; *54*(1): 52-9.
- 120. Hietala S, Mårtensson A, Ngasala B, Dahlström, S, Lindegårdh, N, Annerberg A, Premji Z, Färnert A, Gil P, Björkman A, Ashton M. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of artemether and lumefantrine during combination treatment in children with uncomplicated falciparum malaria in Tanzania. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2010; 54(11): 4780-8.
- 121. Tarning J, McGready R, Lindegardh N, Ashley EA, Pimanpanarak M, Kamanikom B, Annerberg A, Day NP, Stepniewska K, Singhasivanon P, White NJ. Population pharmacokinetics of lumefantrine in pregnant women treated with artemetherlumefantrine for uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2009; 53:3837-46.
- 122. Nyunt MM, Nguyen VK, Kajubi R, Huang L, Ssebuliba J, Kiconco S, Mwima MW, Achan J, Aweeka F, Parikh S, Mwebaza N. Artemether-Lumefantrine Pharmacokinetics and Clinical Response Are Minimally Altered in Pregnant Ugandan Women Treated for Uncomplicated Falciparum Malaria. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2016;60(3):1274-82.
- 123. Noedl H, Allmendinger T, Prajakwong S, Wernsdorfer G, Wernsdorfer WH. Desbutylbenflumetol, a novel antimalarial compound: *in vitro* activity in fresh isolates of *Plasmodium falciparum* from Thailand. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2001; 45:2106–9.
- 124. Starzengruber P, Kollaritsch H, Sirichaisinthop J, Wernsdorfer G, Congpuong K, Wernsdorfer WH. Interaction between lumefantrine and monodesbutyl-benflumetol in Plasmodium falciparum in vitro. *Wien Klin Wochen* 2008; 120: 85–89.
- 125. Wong RP, Salman S, Ilett KF, Siba PM, Mueller I, Davis TM. Desbutyl-lumefantrine is a metabolite of lumefantrine with potent in vitro antimalarial activity that may influence artemether-lumefantrine treatment outcome. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011; 55: 1194–8.
- 126. Ntale M, Ogwal-Okeng JW, Mahindi M, Gustafsson LL, Beck O. A field-adapted sampling and HPLC quantification method for lumefantrine and its desbutyl metabolite in whole blood spotted on filter paper. *J Chromatogr B* 2008;876 (2): 261–265
- Boroujerdi, Mehdi. *PHARMACOKINETICS*. Principles and Applications 2001 pp 316
 R.R Donnelley & Sons, Inc Printers USA
- 128. Ferreira PE, Veiga MI, Cavaco I, Martins J P, Andersson B, Mushin S, Ali AS, Bhattarai A, Ribeiro V, Björkman A, Gil JP. Polymorphism of Antimalaria Drug Metabolizing, Nuclear Receptor, and Drug Transport Genes among Malaria Patients in Zanzibar, East Africa. *Ther Drug Monit* 2008;30(1):10-15
- 129. Bindschedler M, Degen P, Lu ZL, Jiao XQ, Liu GY, Fan F. Comparative bioavailability of benflumetol after administration of single oral doses of co-artemether under fed and fasted conditions to healthy subjects. XIVth International Congress for Tropical Medicine and Malaria, Nov. 17-22 1996; Nagasaki, Japan [Abstract P-01-96]
- 130. Ashley EA, Stepniewska K, Lindegårdh N, Annerberg A, Kham A, Brockman A, Singhasivanon P, White NJ, Nosten F. How much fat is necessary to optimize lumefantrine oral bioavailability? *Trop Med Int Health* 2007; 12(2):195-200.
- 131. Borrmann S, Sallas WM, Machevo S, González R, Björkman A, Mårtensson A, Hamel M, Juma E, Peshu J, Ogutu B, Djimdé A. The effect of food consumption on lumefantrine

bioavailability in African children receiving artemether–lumefantrine crushed or dispersible tablets (Coartem®) for acute uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria. *Trop Med Int Health* 2010; 15(4):434-41.

- 132. Zhou D. Qiu Y. Understanding Biopharmaceutics Properties for Pharmaceutical Product Development and Manufacturing I-Oral Absorption and the Biopharmaceutics Classification System. *JVT* 2009; 15(4): 62.
- 133. Guyton AC and Hall JE 2005: Textbook of Medical Physiology. GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF GIT FUNCTION: Motility, nervous control and blood circulation. Propulsion and mixing of food in the alimentary canal. 2005; pp 769 -781. Ed. 11th, Elsivier Inc
- 134. Savjani KT, Gajjar AK, Savjani JK. Drug solubility: importance and enhancement techniques. *ISRN Pharm* 2012; 2012.
- 135. Singh BN. Effects of food on clinical pharmacokinetics. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 1999;*37*(3): 213-255.
- 136. Welling PG, Lyons LL, Craig WA, Trochta GA. Influence of diet and fluid on bioavailability of theophylline. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 1975; 17 (4): 475-80 (abstract)
- 137. Stevens RC, Rodman JH, Yong FH, Carey V, Knupp CA, Frenkel LM. Effect of food and pharmacokinetic variability on didanosine systemic exposure in HIV-infected children. *AIDS Res Hum Retr* 2000; 16(5):415-21.
- 138. Singh BN, Malhotra BK. Effects of food on the clinical pharmacokinetics of anticancer agents: Underlying mechanisms and implications for oral chemotherapy. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2004; 43(15):1127-1156
- 139. Wahajuddin, Raju KS, Singh SP, Taneja I. Investigation of the functional role of Pglycoprotein in limiting the oral bioavailability of lumefantrine. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2014; 58(1):489-94.
- 140. Suzuki H, Sugiyama Y. Role of metabolic enzymes and efflux transporters in the absorption of drugs from the small intestine. *Eur J Pharm Sci* 2000; 12(1):3-12.
- 141. European Medicines Agency. Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products (CPMP). Note for Guidance on the Investigation of Bioavailability and Bioequivalence, 2001. http://healthtech.who.int/pq/info_applicants/BE/ emea_bioequiv.pdf
- 142. Midha KK, Rawson MJ, Hubbard JW. The bioequivalence of highly variable drugs and drug products. *Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2005; 43(10): 485 98.
- 143. US Food and Drug Administration. guidance for industry: Average, population, and individual approaches to establishing bioequivalence. Washington (DC): FDA. 1999.
- Hauck WW, Hyslop T, Chen ML, Patnaik R, Williams RL. Subject-by-formulation interaction in bioequivalence: conceptual and statistical issues. *Pharm Res* 2000;17(4):375-80.
- 145. Lopes N, Ruas K, Serra CR, Porta V. Average, population and individual bioequivalenceanswering questions on drug interchangeability: original paper. S Afr Pharm J 2010; 77(6): 46-48.
- 146. Steinijans VW. Some conceptual issues in the evaluation of average, population, and individual bioequivalence. *Drug Inf J* 2001; 35: 893–9.
- 147. Achan J, Kakuru A, Ikilezi G, Ruel T, Clark TD, Nsanzabana C, Charlebois E, Aweeka F, Dorsey G, Rosenthal PJ, Havlir D. Antiretroviral Agents and Prevention of Malaria in HIV-Infected Ugandan Children. N Engl J Med 2012; 367:2110-8.

- 148. Byakika-Kibwika P, Lamorde M, Okaba-Kayom V, Mayanja-Kizza H, Katabira E, Hanpithakpong W, Pakker N, Dorlo TP, Tarning J, Lindegardh N, de Vries PJ. Lopinavir/ritonavir significantly influences pharmacokinetic exposure of artemether / lumefantrine in HIV-infected Ugandan adults. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2012; 67: 1217– 23.
- 149. Parikh S, Kajubi R, Huang L, Ssebuliba J, Kiconco S, Gao Q, Li F, Were M, Kakuru A, Achan J, Mwebaza N. Aweeka FT. Antiretroviral choice for HIV impacts antimalarial exposure and treatment outcomes in Ugandan children. *Clin Infect Dis* 2016; 63(3):414-22.
- 150. Kredo T, Mauff K, Workman L, Van der Walt JS, Wiesner L, Smith PJ, Maartens G, Cohen K, Barnes KI. The interaction between artemether-lumefantrine and lopinavir/ritonavir-based antiretroviral therapy in HIV-1 infected patients. *BMC Infect Dis* 2016; 16(1):1.
- 151. Kakuda TN, DeMasi R, Delft Y, Mohammed P. Pharmacokinetic interaction between etravirine or darunavir/ritonavir and artemether/lumefantrine in healthy volunteers: a two-panel, two-way, two-period, randomized trial. *HIV Med* 2013; 14(7):421-9.
- 152. Byakika-Kibwika P, Lamorde M, Mayito J, Nabukeera L, Namakula R, Mayanja-Kizza H, Katabira E, Ntale M, Pakker N, Ryan M, Hanpithakpong W. Significant pharmacokinetic interactions between artemether/lumefantrine and efavirenz or nevirapine in HIV-infected Ugandan adults. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2012; 67: 2213–21
- 153. Huang L, Parikh S, Rosenthal PJ, Lizak P, Marzan F, Dorsey G, Havlir D, Aweeka FT. Concomitant efavirenz reduces pharmacokinetic exposure to the antimalarial drug artemether-lumefantrine in healthy volunteers. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2012;61(3):310.
- 154. Maganda BA, Ngaimisi E, Kamuhabwa AA, Aklillu E, Minzi OM. The influence of nevirapine and efavirenz-based anti-retroviral therapy on the pharmacokinetics of lumefantrine and anti-malarial dose recommendation in HIV-malaria co-treatment. *Malar J* 2015; 14:179.
- 155. Lamorde M, Byakika-Kibwika P, Mayito J, Nabukeera L, Ryan M, Hanpithakpong W, Lefèvre G, Back DJ, Khoo SH, Merry C. Lower artemether, dihydroartemisinin and lumefantrine concentrations during rifampicin-based tuberculosis treatment. *AIDS* 2013; 27(6):961-5.
- 156. van den Anker JN, Schwab M, Kearns GL. Developmental pharmacokinetics. In Pediatric Clinical Pharmacology 2011 ((Eds) Hannsjörg W Seyberth, Anders Rane, Matthias Schwab) pp. 51-75. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. http://www.beck-shop.de/fachbuch/leseprobe/9783642201943_Excerpt_001.pdf
- 157. Bartelink IH, Rademaker CM, Schobben AF, van den Anker JN. Guidelines on paediatric dosing on the basis of developmental physiology and pharmacokinetic considerations. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2006;45:1077–97
- 158. Johnson TN, Thomson M. Intestinal metabolism and transport of drugs in children: the effects of age and disease. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2008;47:3-10.
- 159. Hines RN. Developmental expression of drug metabolizing enzymes: impact on disposition in neonates and young children. *Int J Pharm* 2013; 452(1):3-7.
- 160. Kearns GL, Abdel-Rahman SM, Alander SW, Blowey DL, Leeder JS, Kauffman RE Developmental pharmacology—drug disposition, action, and therapy in infants and children. *N Engl J Med* 2003; 349:1157-67.

- 161. Leeder JS, Kearns GL, Spielberg SP, van den Anker J. Understanding the relative roles of pharmacogenetics and ontogeny in pediatric drug development and regulatory science. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2010; 50:1377-87.
- 162. Tayman C, Rayyan M, Allegaert K. Neonatal pharmacology: extensive interindividual variability despite limited size. *J Pediatric Pharmacol Ther* 2011; *16*(3): 170-84.
- 163. Salem F, Johnson TN, Abduljalil K, Tucker GT, Rostami-Hodjegan A. A re-evaluation and validation of ontogeny functions for cytochrome P450 1A2 and 3A4 based on in vivo data. <u>*Clin Pharmacokinet*</u> 2014; 53(7):625-36.
- 164. Ince I, Knibbe CA, Danhof M, de Wildt SN. Developmental changes in the expression and function of cytochrome P450 3A isoforms: evidence from in vitro and in vivo investigations. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2013; 52(5):333-45.
- 165. Peeters MY, Prins SA, Knibbe CA, DeJongh J, Mathôt RA, Warris C, van Schaik RH, Tibboel D, Danhof M. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of midazolam and metabolites in nonventilated infants after craniofacial surgery. *Anesthesiology* 2006; 105(6):1135–46.
- 166. Gijsen V, Mital S, van Schaik RH, Soldin OP, Soldin SJ, van der Heiden IP, Nulman I, Koren G, de Wildt SN. Age and CYP3A5 genotype affect tacrolimus dosing requirements after transplant in pediatric heart recipients. *J Heart Lung Transpl* 2011; 30(12): 1352–9.
- 167. Nikanjam M, Chadwick EG, Robbins B, Alvero C, Palumbo P, Yogev R, Pinto J, Hazra R, Hughes ML, Heckman BE, Capparelli EV. Assessment of Lopinavir Pharmacokinetics With Respect to Developmental Changes in Infants and the Impact on Weight Band–Based Dosing. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2012; 91(2):243-9.
- 168. Djimdé AA, Tekete M, Abdulla S, Lyimo J, Bassat Q, Mandomando I, Lefèvre G, Borrmann S, B2303 Study Group. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic characteristics of a new pediatric formulation of artemether-lumefantrine in African children with uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011; 55(9): 3994-9.
- 169. WorldWide Antimalarial Resistance Network (WWARN). Lumefantrine PK/PD Study Group. Artemether-lumefantrine treatment of uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria: a systematic review and meta-analysis of day 7 lumefantrine concentrations and therapeutic response using individual patient data. *BMC Medicine* 2015;13:227
- Johnson TN, Rostami-Hodjegan A, Tucker GT. Prediction of clearance of eleven drugs and associated variability in neonates, infants and children. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2006; 931-956.
- 171. Fernandez E, Perez R, Hernandez A, Tejada P, Arteta M, Ramos JT. Factors and Mechanisms for Pharmacokinetic Differences between Pediatric Population and Adults. *Pharmaceutics* 2011; 3:53-72.
- 172. Aarons L: "Population Pharmacokinetics: Theory and Practice" *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 1991; 32:669-670
- 173. FDA. (1999). Guidance for Industry Population pharmacokinetics. US FDA Rockville (MD). http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/.../Guidances/UCM072137.pdf
- 174. Beal SL, Sheiner LB. NONMEM Users Guide--Part II Users Supplemental Guide April 1988. Electronic copy produced March 2008, August 2011
- 175. Tatarinova T, Neely M, Bartroff J, van Guilder M, Yamada W, Bayard D, Jelliffe R, Leary R, Chubatiuk A, Schumitzky A. Two general methods for population

pharmacokinetic modeling: non-parametric adaptive grid and non-parametric Bayesian. J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodyn 2013; 40(2):189-99.

- 176. Ette EI, Williams PJ. Population pharmacokinetics II: estimation methods. Annals of Pharmacotherapy. 2004; 38(11):1907-15.
- 177. Tchaparian E, Sambol NC, Arinaitwe E, McCormack SA, Bigira V, Wanzira H, Muhindo M, Creek DJ, Sukumar N, Blessborn D, Tappero JW. Kakuru A, Bergqvist Y, Aweeka FT, Parikh S. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of lumefantrine in young Ugandan children treated with artemether-lumefantrine for uncomplicated malaria. *J Infect Dis* 2016; 214(8):1243-51.
- 178. Staehli Hodel EM, Guidi M, Zanolari B, Mercier T, Duong S, Kabanywanyi AM, Ariey F, Buclin T, Beck HP, Decosterd LA, Olliaro P, Genton B, Csajka C. Population pharmacokinetics of mefloquine, piperaquine and artemether-lumefantrine in Cambodian and Tanzanian malaria patients. *Malar J* 2013;12:235
- 179. Mosha D, Guidi M, Mwingira F, Abdulla S, Mercier T, Decosterd LA, Csajka C, Genton B. Population pharmacokinetics and clinical response for artemether-lumefantrine in pregnant and nonpregnant women with uncomplicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria in Tanzania. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2014; 58(8):4583-92.
- 180. Hoglund RM, Byakika-Kibwika P, Lamorde M, Merry C, Ashton M, Hanpithakpong W, Day NP, White NJ, Äbelö A, Tarning J. Artemether-lumefantrine co-administration with antiretrovirals: population pharmacokinetics and dosing implications. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2015; 79:636-49.
- 181. Zeng MY, Lu ZL, Yang SC, Zhang M, Liao J, Liu SL, Teng XH. Determination of benflumetol in human plasma by reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection. *J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl* 1996; 681(2):299-306.
- 182. Lindegårdh N, Annerberg A, Blessborn D, Bergqvist Y, Day N, White NJ. Development and validation of a bioanalytical method using automated solid-phase extraction and LC-UV for the simultaneous determination of lumefantrine and its desbutyl metabolite in plasma. *J Pharm Biomed Anal* 2005; 37(5):1081-8.
- 183. van Vugt M, Ezzet F, Phaipun L, Nosten F, White NJ. The relationship between capillary and venous concentrations of the antimalarial drug lumefantrine (benflumetol). *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1998; 92(5):564-5
- 184. Blessborn D, Römsing S, Annerberg A, Sundquist D, Björkman A, Lindegardh N, Bergqvist Y. Development and validation of an automated solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatographic method for determination of lumefantrine in capillary blood on sampling paper. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2007; 45(2):282-7.
- 185. Khalil IF, Abildrup U, Alifrangis LH, Maiga D, Alifrangis M, Hoegberg L, Vestergaard LS, Persson OP, Nyagonde N, Lemnge MM, Theander TG. Measurement of lumefantrine and its metabolite in plasma by high performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection. *J Pharm Biomed Anal* 2011; 54(1):168-72.
- 186. Hodel EM, Zanolari B, Mercier T, Biollaz J, Keiser J, Olliaro P, Genton B, Decosterd LA. A single LC–tandem mass spectrometry method for the simultaneous determination of 14 antimalarial drugs and their metabolites in human plasma. *J Chromatogr B* 2009; 877(10):867-86.
- 187. Sethi P, Dua VK, Jain R. A LC-MS/MS method for the determination of lumefantrine and its metabolite desbutyl-lumefantrine in plasma from patients infected with

Plasmodium falciparum malaria. *J Liquid Chromatogr Relat Technol* 2011; 34(20):2674-88.

- 188. Huang L, Li X, Marzan F, Lizak PS, Aweeka FT. Determination of lumefantrine in small-volume human plasma by LC-MS/MS: using a deuterated lumefantrine to overcome matrix effect and ionization saturation. *Bioanalysis*. 2012; 4(2):157-66.
- 189. Okello PE, Van Bortel W, Byaruhanga AM, Correwyn A, Roelants P, Talisuna A, d'Alessandro U, Coosemans M. Variation in malaria transmission intensity in seven sites throughout Uganda. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2006; 75: 219-225.
- 190. Guidance for Industry, Statistical Approaches to Establishing Bioequivalence. U.S. Department of health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Rsearch (CDER) http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/.../Guidances/ucm070244.pdf
- 191. Dawson B and Trapp RG. Basic & Clinical Biostatistics. Fourth Edition 2004 Lange Medical Books/McGraw- Hill Medical Publishing Division
- 192. Ogungbenro K, Aarons L, Graham G. Sample Size Calculations Based on Generalized Estimating Equations for Population Pharmacokinetic Experiments <u>J Biopharm Stat</u> 2006;<u>16</u> (2):135-150.
- 193. World Health Organization (2003). Assessment and Monitoring of Antimalarial Drug Efficacy for the treatment of Uncomplicated Falciparum Malaria. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2003. Technical document WHO/RBM/HTM/2003.50
- 194. Senn S and Ezzet F. Clinical cross-over trials in phase 1. *Stat Methods in Med Res* 1999; 8: 263-278.
- 195. European Medicines Agency. Guideline on bioanalytical method validation. EMEA/CHMP/EWP/192217/2009 Rev.1 Corr., (2011), London
- 196. Liljander A, Wiklund L, Falk N, Kweku M, Martensson A, Felger I, Färnert A. Optimization and validation of multi-coloured capillary electrophoresis for genotyping of Plasmodium falciparum merozoite surface proteins (msp1 and 2). *Malar J*, 2009; 8:78.
- 197. Premji ZG, Abdulla S, Ogutu B, Ndong A, Falade CO, Sagara I, Mulure N, Nwaiwu O, Kokwaro G. The content of African diets is adequate to achieve optimal efficacy with fixed-dose artemether-lumefantrine: a review of the evidence. *Malar J* 2008; 7(1):1.
- 198. Bonner JJ, Vajjah P, Abduljalil K, Jamei M, Rostami-Hodjegan A, Tucker GT, Johnson TN. Does age affect gastric emptying time? A model-based meta-analysis of data from premature neonates through to adults. *Biopharm Drug Dispos* 2015; 36(4):245-57.
- 199. Porter CJ, Trevaskis NL, Charman WN. Lipids and lipid-based formulations: optimizing the oral delivery of lipophilic drugs. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2007; 6(3):231-48.
- 200. Fule R, Meer T, Sav A, Amin P. Solubility and dissolution rate enhancement of lumefantrine using hot melt extrusion technology with physicochemical characterisation. *J Pharm Invest* 2013; 43(4):305-321.
- 201. Gahoi S, Jain GK, Tripathi R, Pandey SK, Anwar M, Warsi MH, Singhal M, Khar RK, Ahmad FJ. Enhanced antimalarial activity of lumefantrine nanopowder prepared by wetmilling DYNO MILL technique. *Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces* 2012; 95:16-22. Abstract
- 202. Schuirmann DJ. A comparison of the two one-sided tests procedure and the power approach for assessing the equivalence of average bioavailability. Journal of pharmacokinetics and biopharmaceutics. 1987; 15(6):657-80.
- 203. World Health Organization, UNICEF. WHO child growth standards and the identification of severe acute malnutrition in infants and children: a Joint Statement by the World
Health Organization and the United Nations Children's Fund. Geneva: World Health Organization. 2009. <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44129</u>

204. Fadiran EO, Jones CD, Ette EI. Designing population pharmacokinetic studies: performance of mixed designs. *Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet* 2000; 25: 231 – 239